## 

@ UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH FLORIDA

### University of South Florida Digital Commons @ University of South Florida

USF Tampa Graduate Theses and Dissertations

USF Graduate Theses and Dissertations

3-15-2023

# "Queen of the Mother-Tucking (Western) World": Authenticity and Nationality on *Drag Race*

Zane A. Willard University of South Florida

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.usf.edu/etd

Part of the Communication Commons

#### Scholar Commons Citation

Willard, Zane A., ""Queen of the Mother-Tucking (Western) World": Authenticity and Nationality on *Drag Race*" (2023). *USF Tampa Graduate Theses and Dissertations.* https://digitalcommons.usf.edu/etd/10459

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the USF Graduate Theses and Dissertations at Digital Commons @ University of South Florida. It has been accepted for inclusion in USF Tampa Graduate Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons @ University of South Florida. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@usf.edu.

"Queen of the Mother-Tucking (Western) World": Authenticity and Nationality on Drag Race

by

Zane A. Willard

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of Master of Arts Department of Communication College of Arts & Sciences University of South Florida

Major Professor: Rachel E. Dubrofsky, Ph.D. Keith Berry, Ph.D. Diana Leon-Boys, Ph.D.

> Date of Approval: March 10, 2023

Keywords: Queer, Surveillance, Reality Television, Gender, Race

Copyright © 2023, Zane A. Willard

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

If you had told 18-year-old college freshman Zane that he would be writing a master's thesis on *RuPaul's Drag Race* in 2016 he would have thought, you were insane. However, life takes its twists and turns, and I am so grateful 25-year-old Zane has achieved this goal. The way I imagined this thesis on my first day of graduate school is also entirely different than what I have completed here. I "allowed my graduate program to happen to me" as Dr. Keith Berry, the Graduate Director at the time, advised us to do on the first day of orientation. The fluidity of identity and ideas I allowed myself to experience throughout this process have led me to the completion of this project.

First, I must thank my advisor, Dr. Rachel E. Dubrofsky, for her patience and her belief in my ability to do the work. Dr. Dubrofsky kept me on a path toward success when I am literally a small dog distracted by every squirrel I see, in this case by my wildly diverse interests and eagerness to "do it all". I would not be on my path to becoming the critical media and cultural studies scholar I am without Dr. Dubrofsky's support. It has been a privilege to work with you through this process and I am grateful for the confidence you instill in me. I also wish to grant many thanks to my committee members, Dr. Keith Berry and Dr. Diana Leon-Boys. You both have been some of my biggest cheerleaders since day one and I am grateful for your belief in my abilities as a student, writer, and teacher. This project, or my graduate school career at all would not be possible without my friend and mentor Dr. Alisha Menzies, who helped put me on this path to come to the USF Department of Communication in the first place. Alisha, your friendship means so much and there is nothing I love more than our synergy while we work and laugh together over coffee.

To my mother, Lisa, I have only made it this far in life with your love and support. My father, Scott, my brothers, Vince and Jake, my sister-in-law, Johannah, and my grandparents still with us, Wayne and Shirley, thank you all for your prayers of love and support. To my heavenly angel, my Grandma, Kathryn, how I wish you could be here to see me do this amazing work. I hope you are looking down with pride knowing your legacy of love and light continue to live on through me and my work. I am forever grateful for you all instilling values of hard work, kindness, and to quote the motto of the Moravian church, "in all things, love".

To the friends and family in Tampa who have influenced me and this work in ways you all will never imagine, thank you. My network of CrossFit folks and my Tampa gays, you listen to me ramble about my big ideas and philosophical thoughts, you tolerate me after days and nights of lots of writing and little sleep, but most importantly you all make me laugh and feel so loved. I cannot even begin to list all the individuals who have impacted me in so many positive ways but my Big Guava family, Pitches, 10 Pints, and my *Drag Race* gal pals I love you all.

Lastly, to the Department of Communication at USF, my faculty mentors and graduate student colleagues it is truly a privilege to come to campus or meet online to learn and grow with you all. The opportunities you have provided me to pursue my degree and serve our community of scholars have made my time in my master's program an enriching experience.

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract	ii
Introduction	1
Methodology	
Critical Interventions	
Queer Reality Television & RuPaul's Drag Race	9
RuPaul's Drag Race: UK vs The World	
Chapter Outlines	
Chapter One	13
Chapter Two	14
Chapter Three	14
Chapter One: Disturbing the Order of Things: Queering Authenticity	15
Queering Authenticity on the Body	19
Performing Queer Authenticity	23
Be a Good Drag Queen: Performing-Performing on UKVTW	24
Be an Open Book: Performing-Not-Performing on UKVTW	
Failing at Queer Authenticity	
"To Infinity and Beyond?": Concluding Thoughts on Queer Authenticity	
Chapter Two: "Are you ready for Thai Tea?": Authenticating Westernness	
UKVTW's Postracial Imaginary	
Strategic Westernness	42
Authenticating Westernness	45
"Looks White to Me": Concluding Thoughts on Westernness	51
Chapter Three: Sashaying into the Future of Queer Authenticity	
References	

#### ABSTRACT

Against the backdrop of legislation across the United States regulating drag performances, I turn to the reality television (RTV) franchise Drag Race as a popular media site where queer identities are represented. More specifically, I analyze the series *RuPaul's Drag* Race: UK vs The World (UKVTW) which is the first series in the franchise to feature participants from different countries competing for the title "Queen of the Mother-Tucking World." Furthermore, the series suggests it represents "global" drag. Understanding that no singular RTV series can represent a singular global drag identity, I ask: how does the series represent global drag? Turning to scholarship on RTV which suggests that RTV participants who are seen as successful are often seen as authentic, I first analyze how authenticity is presented on the series. I theorize "queer authenticity" to make sense of how queer identities are presented as authentic in RTV, an idea not yet studied by critical scholars. In chapter two, I return to my first research question: how does the series represent global drag? Building on my argument in chapter one, I argue the "global" drag that UKVTW suggests it represents is inherently white and Western using authenticity as a tool to construct the only participants on the series from a non-Western country as "Other." Currently, there are *Drag Race* series in fifteen different countries with plans to continue expanding so being attentive to how *Drag Race* represents "global" drag provides insight into what drag identities are privileged over others.

#### **INTRODUCTION**

On March 3, 2023 Tennessee's state legislators passed a bill banning drag performances in public spaces or anywhere minors might be present. Similar legislation is appearing in fourteen other state governments across the United States. These bills broadly define a drag performer as someone dressing and acting as a gender other than the one they were assigned at birth. Some of the performances this legislation is targeting are: "Drag Queen Story Time", where drag queens read children's books at public libraries, public lip sync performances, and Pride parades (Helmore, 2023). Legislation targeting drag performers are the most recent attacks at the LGBTQIA+ community. Other recent political attacks include Florida's 2022 "Don't Say Gay" Bill, North Carolina's 2016 infamous "Bathroom Bill", the rolling back of protections for trans military people, and bills targeting gender affirming health care for transgender youth. Despite the increasingly reactionary political legislation aimed at queer people in the United States, and recently particularly at drag queens, there has been an increase in media representation of queer people in popular media (GLAAD, 2022). I orient queer as Sara Ahmed (2006) articulates, "to make things queer is to disturb the order of things" (p. 161), and David Halperin (1997), "queer is by definition whatever is at odds with the normal, the legitimate, the dominant" (p. 62). Through these definitions I understand queer identities to be "more situated, fluid, and complicated" rather than "fixed, static, and uniform" (Berry, 2014, p. 92). This project is about how queer identities that are "fluid and complicated" are represented in popular media.

The competitive reality television series *RuPaul's Drag Race (RPDR)* is one of the most popular mainstream sites for the representation of queer people and drag culture. *RPDR* is a

competition where participants are drag queens who compete in weekly episodic challenges and are eliminated each episode; the last queen standing is crowned as "America's Next Drag Superstar" and receives a cash prize which is \$200,000 for the fifteenth season currently airing in 2023. *Drag Race* alumni now star in their own television series, films, and comedy specials across streaming platforms such as Netflix, Hulu, and Paramount Plus, and perform in theatrical productions on Broadway and the West End. Expanding their reach beyond entertainment, alumni of the series have taken up political and activist agendas these include: supporting gay marriage in 2014, speaking out against Donald Trump's rampant rhetoric of racism and transphobia during his election campaign and presidency, promoting the Black Lives Matter movement in 2020, and, more recently, decrying the increase in gun violence in the United States. In response to the shooting at Club Q, a gay night club in Colorado Springs in November 2022 and the right-wing political discourse targeting drag queens, touring *Drag Race* alumni announced they would be increasing their security measures at their shows (Lavietes, 2022).

RuPaul in a 2016 interview claimed: "drag will never be mainstream" (Jung, 2016), and yet, one could argue, *Drag Race* has become "mainstream". *RPDR*'s success sparked the production of multiple spin-off series in the United States (e.g., *Untucked!*, *Drag U*, *All Stars*, *All Stars: Untucked!*, *Holislay Spectacular*, *Secret Celebrity Drag Race*, *Vegas Revue*) as well as an expansion of *Drag Race* into a global media project with franchises produced in fifteen countries as of 2023. Scholarship on *Drag Race* suggests the series represents "commercialized drag" (LeMaster & Tristano, 2021; Upadhyay, 2019), which to use Jose Esteban Munoz (1997) words is "a sanitized and desexualized queer subject for mass consumption" (p. 85). At its core, *Drag Race* is a consumer project that packages drag performance into a marketable presentation for distribution in mass media (LeMaster & Tristano, 2021; Lovelock, 2019). The consumerism and

commercializing of drag expands beyond *Drag Race* as alumni of the series produce, direct, write and star in their own scripted and reality television series, own bars and restaurants, have their own podcasts, and one *RPDR* alumni even owns a hotel. Scholarship on *Drag Race* suggests the series influences local drag cultures across the globe by promoting commercial drag as successful because it is monetized (Brahmacharimayum & King, 2022; Brennan & Gudelunas, 2022b; Matthews, 2022; Pepe, 2022; Sarfati & Santos, 2022). The expansion of *Drag Race* into global media is relatively recent with the first international franchise, *Drag Race Thailand* premiering in 2018. Since 2018, thirteen other international franchises have been released.

Given the recent global expansion of *Drag Race*, I am interested in how *Drag Race* represents itself as "global." I turn my attention to the first season (and currently the only season) of the series RuPaul's Drag Race: UK vs The World (UKVTW) consisting of six episodes which premiered in February 2022 on the BBC and was distributed internationally on Drag Race's streaming platform WOW Presents Plus. The series is a competition to crown the "Queen of the Mother-Tucking World," as RuPaul says, she "wants a global superstar." I am curious about what makes a "Queen of the Mother-Tucking World" and who gets to be a global drag superstar. I turn to scholarship on reality television (RTV) which suggests that successful RTV participants are seen as authentic (Dubrofsky, 2011b). Rachel E. Dubrofsky (2022) tells us authenticity is a central part of RTV because the "participants who seem authentic are the ones we root for, presented as the most likable, the good characters, or ones we love to hate for their authentic badness" (p. 15). I expand more on the connections between RTV and authenticity shortly. Understanding UKVTW as a RTV series that represents queer identities (drag queens) and positions itself as representing global queer identities: I ask: How are drag queens, as queer identities, presented as authentic? How does the series represent global drag?

#### Methodology

This project is about representation. I am interested in how *UKVTW* represents queer identities in a "global" context—"global" in quotations to suggest that the series can never represent anything global, but the series sees itself as doing so. Richard Dyer reminds us of the imperative to study representation in the introduction to his book *White* (1997):

how anything is represented is the means by which we think and feel about that thing, by which we apprehend it. The study of representation is more limited than the study of reality and yet it is also the study of one of the prime means by which we have any knowledge of reality (p. xiii).

In other words, studying media representations can provide insight for how we make sense of the world around us. I use close critical textual analysis to understand how *UKVTW* represents queer identities. Textual analysis offers accessibility to the encoded ideologies of popular media texts (Baez, 2018; Turner, 2012). Rachel E. Dubrofsky (2022) tells us that textual analysis helps us "make sense of the micro to better understand the macro" (p. 8). As the representation of queer identities in popular media continues to increase, I analyze *UKVTW* as a "micro" example of queer representation.

#### **Critical Interventions**

This project builds on critical surveillance studies scholarship which suggests that RTV is a productive site of analysis for studying authenticity (Andrejevic, 2004; Dubrofsky, 2022; Enli, 2015). Critical surveillance scholars study how surveillance practices and technologies privilege some identities over others. This scholarship has given special attention to surveillance's intersections with racism (Browne, 2015; Moore, 2022; Monahan, 2022), feminism (Dubrofsky, 2011a; Dubrofsky & Magnet, 2015) Blackness (Browne, 2015; Moore, 2022), whiteness (Dubrofsky, 2022; Hall, 2015), transnationalism (Heynen & van der Muelen, 2019), immigration (Fojas, 2021), xenophobia (Hall, 2015) and transgender identity (Beauchamp, 2019; Fischer, 2019). More specifically, this project builds on the burgeoning subfield of queer surveillance studies which seeks to make sense of "the power dynamic through which queerness is actualized as the necessary difference that adjudicates the bounds between normative and non-normative modes of embodiment, risk, and disposability" (Kafer & Grinberg, 2019). Put more simply, queer surveillance studies is interested in how queer identities exist under surveillance, resist surveillance, and how queerness is produced within a culture of surveillance. The flagship journal of surveillance studies, *Surveillance & Society* published a special issue in 2019 titled "Queer Surveillance." Editors Gary Kafer and Daniel Grinberg tie together the disparate history of queer surveillance studies across disciplines. My project builds on the new field of queer surveillance. While there has been a notable amount of scholarship about *Drag Race*, surveillance and authenticity have not been focal.

Central to RTV is the role of surveillance as it represents a culture of surveillance. David Lyon (2018) suggests that we live in a "culture of surveillance," because our everyday activities we participate in subject us to the power of surveillance. I use critical surveillance scholar Torin Monahan's (2022) definition of surveillance in the introduction to his book *Crisis Vision: Race and the Cultural Production of Surveillance*; because of his critical focus, he is worth quoting at length:

Surveillance implies much more than just watching: it is focused observation infused with judgement and yoked to a purpose. Surveillance is a key mechanism of influencing, directing, and regulating the behaviors of individuals and groups in society. In short it is a

principle mode of governance deployed by institutions and individuals through both technical and nontechnical means, to assert control over domains and the bodies within them. (p. 6)

This is what RTV represents: a space where participants have their every move and sound documented and then translated into a mediated representation through an editing process without any agency in deciding how they are presented. My critical orientation, like Monahan's, shifts my attention to how the surveillance culture of RTV privileges some identities over others. Dubrofsky takes a similar critical approach to surveillance in her book *Authenticating Whiteness: Karens, Selfies, and Pop Stars* (2022) where she argues we should see "surveillance as culture" (p. 22). Dubrofsky suggests that analyzing "surveillance as culture" shifts the focus away from how surveillance functions in culture to how culture is shaped by the constant presence of surveillance. Central to both Dubrofsky (2022) and Monahan's (2022) concepts of surveillance is how it takes up space in the everyday. This project understands RTV as part of and representing a culture of surveillance. My focus is on how queer identities are presented as authentic in RTV, as a media that reflects a culture of surveillance and can tell us about how we make sense of queer authenticity.

Critical scholarship tell us that authenticity is arbitrary because we can never know if anyone is being authentic (Andrejevic, 2004; Banet-Weiser, 2012; Dubrofsky, 2011a; Dubrofsky, 2022; Johnson, 2003). Scholars who study authenticity analyze media to make sense of how authenticity functions in society. Dubrofsky (2022) suggests that representations in media are seen as authentic when "what one says and how one performs is presented as not rehearsed, scripted, or expressive of underlying motives" (p. 5). The study of authenticity in media can tell us about how authenticity is curated to make us believe what we are seeing is authentic.

Dubrofsky (2022) argues authenticity gains power by its taken-for-grantedness. She suggests that to understand how authenticity functions in media it "must be made strange" (p. 11) by calling attention to its mundaneness. E. Patrick Johnson (2003) suggests that if authenticity is left untouched it can privilege certain identities over others. This is an imperative that Dubrofsky takes up in *Authenticating Whiteness* (2022) as she calls attention to how authenticity is used as a strategy for whiteness to maintain its dominance. I also pick up this imperative in this project by analyzing how queer identities are presented as authentic in RTV, an idea not yet studied by critical scholars.

RTV is a useful site of analysis for scholars interested in authenticity because the surveillance of the cameras and audio equipment functions to verify RTV participants as authentic (Andrejevic, 2004; Dubrofsky, 2011a). The surveillance technologies of a RTV series (cameras, microphones) capture performances of participants which is then put through an editing and production process. Central to the production of a RTV episode is that it is edited from likely hundreds of hours of footage and audio that is boiled down to one-to-two-hour episode. As viewers we are seeing a mediated narrative not a reflection of reality, instead it is "reality-based" television. The term "reality-based" makes clear that what we see is based on disparate moments of reality that are caught on camera to produce a mediated narrative (Dubrofsky, 2006; 2011). Like authenticity I assume "reality" is contextually based and that we can never assess what "really" happened on a series, we can only analyze what is presented to us. The authenticity that is presented to us is what Gunn Enli (2015) describes as "mediated authenticity"—a curated version of what is actually recorded that is produced to appear as authentic.

Since *RPDR*'s first season aired in 2009 there has been extensive scholarship on *RPDR* (the US series) centering notions of celebrity (Andrews, 2020; Collie & Commane, 2020; O'Connell, 2020), RPDR's success in social media (Brennan & Gudelunas, 2022b; Feldman & Hakim, 2020; Gudelunas, 2017; Gudelunas, 2022; Lyvie & Robinson, 2022; Mercer & Sarson, 2020), activism (Middlemost, 2019; Middlemost, 2020), political economy (Collins, 2017; Mehran, 2022; Vesey, 2017), and race and gender (Brennan, 2022; Ferreday, 2020; Goldmark, 2015; LeMaster & Tristano, 2021; McIntyre & Riggs, 2017; O'Meara, 2021; Strings & Bui, 2014; Upadhyay, 2019; Ward, 2020). While there has been scholarship on the U.S. franchise of RuPaul's Drag Race, there is no scholarship on the international franchises of the series since their inception in 2018. Celebrity Studies dedicated an entire issue (2020) to the celebrity of RPDR, but none of the articles looked at the international franchises. Niall Brennan and David Gudelunas have published two edited collections about *RuPaul's Drag Race* and drag cultures. The first, RuPaul's Drag Race and the Shifting Visibility of Drag Culture (2017a) centers scholarship specifically analyzing *RPDR* and the second *Drag in the Global Digital Public* Sphere: Queer Visibility, Online Discourse, and Political Change (2022a) is about Drag Race's impacts and implications on local and global drag culture. Despite this large body of scholarship focusing on Drag Race, little attention has been given to how authenticity or nationality are presented on the series. In this project *RDPR* refers to the original American franchise, *RuPaul's* Drag Race, UKVTW refers to my site of analysis RuPaul's Drag Race: UK vs The World, and Drag Race refers to the series as a whole, that is, understanding that all the franchises are under the parent production company World of Wonder.

Building on scholarship on authenticity and surveillance, I analyze how *UKVTW* as a RTV series represents queer identities and nationality. My interests lie in how the series presents

participants as authentic and how the series presents itself as global. I extend ideas from RTV scholarship that argue participants are seen as authentic when they present a consistent self across the spaces of the RTV series suggesting that despite the surveillance of the RTV production, that this is how they behave in "real life" outside of the series (Dubrofsky, 2007; Dubrofsky, 2011a; Dubrofsky & Ryalls, 2014). I extend these ideas to include queer identities by asking: what if RTV participants are unable to "present a consistent unchanged self," because the premise of the series requires them to change? This is what is unique to *Drag Race*—the premise of the series relying on the participants transforming in and out of drag, not maintaining a "consistent self." I ask, who gets to be authentic on *UKVTW*? I give attention to how nationality is represented on *UKVTW* to understand which nationalities are presented as authentic and which are not and what that says about how *UKVTW* represents "global drag."

#### Queer Reality Television & RuPaul's Drag Race

GLAAD (Gay & Lesbian Alliance Against Defamation), a non-profit organization formed in 1985, is dedicated to promoting the acceptance of the queer community. Since 2005, GLAAD has published an annual "Where We Are on TV Report" that charts the representation of queer characters across scripted broadcast television and streaming television (e.g., Netflix, Hulu, HBO Max, Disney+, Paramount Plus, Apple TV, Amazon, Peacock). In 2005 when the first report was published, less than 2% of all television characters were queer (gay, bisexual, pansexual, transgender, gender non-binary, asexual) identifying (GLAAD, 2006). During the 2021-2022 television season 11.9% of all television characters were queer identifying, a new record high (GLAAD, 2022). In addition to the increasing representation in scripted broadcast television, there has also been an increase in queer representation in reality television. However, most of these representations were and continue to be of cisgender gay men.

The first representation of a gay person in reality television was on PBS's An American Family (1973) which followed the Loud family and their out-gay son Lance. In 1994, during the AIDS Crisis in the United States, the third season of MTV's The Real World features Pedro Zamora, a gay Latino men living with AIDS. This same season of The Real World also had the first televised same-sex commitment ceremony between Zamora and his partner (Duke & Carter, 2013). In the early 2000's, Queer Eye for the Straight Guy (2003-2007) features a cast of cisgender gay men. Since the early 2000's, during the rise of reality television, series such as American Idol, Survivor, Big Brother, The Amazing Race, America's Next Top Model feature LGBTQ+ participants (Lovelock, 2019; Ogles, 2018). Today, queer reality television programs such as We're Here, Queer Eye, Trixie Motel, Legendary, and The Boulet Brothers' Dragula provide nuanced representations of gay, pansexual, nonbinary, and transgender people. These series feature narratives that move beyond gay and lesbian politics and encompass discussions about race, gender, age, ability, and religion. However, none of these series have gained as much critical acclaim and success as RuPaul's Drag Race (RPDR). The series has garnered twentyseven Primetime Emmy Awards since 2016 among other accolades and nominations including, but not limited to, the Television Critics Choice Awards, the Hollywood Critic's Association Awards, and the MTV Movie & TV Awards.

*RPDR* is hosted by RuPaul Andre Charles, a black drag queen from Chicago who entered the cultural zeitgeist with his debut 1993 studio album, *Supermodel of the World*. RuPaul became the first drag queen to be part of a major cosmetics campaign; he raised money for the MAC AIDS Fund as the MAC Cosmetics spokesperson. He went on to host his own talk show from 1996 to 1998 on VH1, *The RuPaul Show*, and co-hosted a morning radio show with radio DJ and singer, Michelle Visage. However, RuPaul's eleven Primetime Emmy Awards are for his reality

television competition series, *RuPaul's Drag Race (RPDR)*. The first season of *RPDR* aired on the LGBTQ television network Logo in 2009 and featured nine drag queen contestants competing in weekly episodic challenges where one queen is eliminated per episode. As noted earlier, the last queen standing is crowned "America's Next Drag Superstar" and receives a cash prize. To date, *RPDR* has aired fifteen seasons and produced multiple franchises, including *RuPaul's Drag Race All Stars* (2012-present) where previously eliminated queens from different seasons return for a chance to win a cash prize and be inducted into the "Drag Race Hall of Fame," a title exclusive to queens who are competing for a second, third, or fourth time. Since January 2023, *RPDR* airs on the cable network MTV, after previously airing on VH-1 from 2017 to 2021, and the niche LGBTQ+ cable network, Logo from 2009 to 2016.

#### RuPaul's Drag Race: UK vs The World

The first season (and currently the only season) of *RuPaul's Drag Race: UK vs The World (UKVTW)* premiered in February 2022 and is the first franchise to bring "internationally acclaimed queens", as RuPaul calls them, from different international franchises to compete for the title: "Queen of the Mother-Tucking World." The series was filmed in March 2021 and the queens represent the countries where a *Drag Race* franchise had premiered at the time. *UKVTW* premiered in February 2022 on the BBC in the United Kingdom and internationally on World of Wonder's (the parent company of *Drag Race*) streaming service, WOW Presents Plus. *UKVTW* suggests it represents global drag through framing the contestants as "internationally acclaimed queens" and the winner being crowned the "Queen of the Mother-Tucking World".

Here, I briefly share details about the participants and judges. I purposefully describe their racial and national identities because in chapter two I focus my analysis on the how the participants racial and national identities are presented on the series. The cast features nine

queens who previously competed on either RuPaul's Drag Race UK, Drag Race Holland, Drag Race Thailand, Canada's Drag Race, RuPaul's Drag Race and RuPaul's Drag Race All Stars. The nine queens on UKVTW represent five different nationalities (American, British, Canadian, Dutch, and Thai) and three different racialized identities (white, Black, and East Asian). The three queens from the United Kingdom—Blu Hydrangea, Baga Chipz, and Cheryl Hole—the two queens from Canada—Jimbo and Lemon—and the only queen from Holland—Janey Jacke—are white; Mo Heart from the United States is Black; Jujubee from the United States is Asian American; Pangina from Thailand is East Asian. RuPaul, Michelle Visage, and Graham Norton are the three main judges for the series. Michelle Visage is white and is a media personality from New Jersey, a former member of the girl group band "Seduction" and was RuPaul's cohost for The RuPaul Show (1996-1998). Graham Norton is white and is an Irish actor, author, and comedian most known for hosting his own comedic talk show on the BBC, The Graham Norton Show (2007-present). RuPaul and Michelle Visage are main judges for the US and UK franchises, and Graham Norton is a main judge for the regular UK franchise. Each episode of UKVTW features one or two celebrity guest judges from the United Kingdom.

The four social spaces of the series are the Main Stage, the Werk Room, the Confessional, and Untucked. The Main Stage is where the queens walk the catwalk for their runway presentations, receive critiques from the judges, compete in lip sync battles, and perform the challenges. The Werk Room is where the queens meet with RuPaul to learn about the challenge as well as prepare for the challenges and their runway presentations. This includes: learning lines for acting challenges, practicing choreography, sewing, writing song lyrics, and practicing their lip sync performances. The Confessional is where the queens comment in private directly to the camera providing insights about their thoughts and feelings as well as additional

commentary about what is going on at the moment. Lastly, Untucked is a segment that takes place after the judges' critiques where the contestants debrief with one another about the judges' remarks.

Each episode of *UKVTW* requires participants to complete a "Maxi Challenge" that test skills such as dancing, acting, singing, writing music, sewing, stand-up comedy, and celebrity impersonation. Following the Maxi Challenge in each episode there is a themed runway presentation where queens walk the runway on the Main Stage wearing outfits that reflect the theme. After the runway presentation, queens are critiqued by the judges. RuPaul decides on the top two queens of the week and the worst ones who face potential elimination, then all of the queens go to Untucked backstage. The top two queens of the week decide which of the bottom queens they want to eliminate. The queens facing elimination can meet with the top two queens individually to plead their case for why they should stay. Following Untucked the top two queens have a lip sync battle in front of the judges and other contestants where RuPaul decides which of the top two queens is the winner. The winner of the lip sync then reveals which of the queens they chose to be eliminated from the competition. Each episode a queen is eliminated, and in the final episode, the final four queens have a bracket-style lip sync battle to be crowned the winner of the series.

#### **Chapter Outlines**

#### Chapter One

In this chapter, I am interested in how participants are presented as authentic on *UKVTW*. I focus my analysis on the winner of *UKVTW*, Blu Hydrangea and how her authenticity and success are connected. I theorize "queer authenticity" as a means of extending the idea that to be seen as authentic in RTV participants must present a consistent self across the series. Queer

authenticity is a model for imagining how queer identities which are "more situated, fluid, and complicated than fixed, static, and uniform," (Berry, 2014, p. 92) can claim authenticity. This chapter argues that Blu Hydrangea performs a consistent queer authenticity across the series through her drag performance, sharing personal stories, and representing her country. I then argue that queens who fail to maintain queer authenticity are eliminated from the series.

#### Chapter Two

In this chapter, I turn my attention to how nationality is represented on *UKVTW*. I am attentive to the racial and national identities of the participants and give particular attention to Pangina the only participant from a non-Western country. I argue that *UKVTW* represents a "postracial imaginary" by turning attention away from race to nationality. I coin the term "strategic westernness" which is how Western cultural values and references maintain their dominance as normal without being called into question. Then, I argue that authenticity is a strategy of Westernness as it works to "other" Pangina from her fellow competitors because of her Thai identity and her excessively emotional exit from the series.

#### **Chapter Three**

In this chapter, I summarize the concepts and theories introduced throughout the project. I describe the future of the *Drag Race* series and how some of these ideas can be applicable to up and coming *Drag Race* media projects. I conclude by offering ideas for future scholarship.

#### **CHAPTER ONE:**

#### **DISTURBING THE ORDER OF THINGS: QUEERING AUTHENTICITY**

In this chapter I turn my attention to the notion of "authenticity" on UKVTW. I begin with the premise that authenticity is arbitrary and contextually situated, not essential to identity (Banet-Weiser, 2012; Enli, 2015; Johnson, 2003; Dubrofsky, 2011a; Dubrofsky, 2022; Dubrofsky & Ryalls, 2014). Johnson in his book, Appropriating Blackness: Performance and the Politics of Authenticity (2003) warns of how authenticity, when left unexamined, can "foreclose possibilities" by privileging some identities over others (p. 3). I pick up on Johnson's call for us to examine authenticity and turn my attention to how queer identities are presented as authentic, an idea not yet studied by critical scholars. Scholarship on authenticity suggests that in surveillance settings, such as reality television (RTV), participants are seen as authentic when they perform a consistent self across disparate surveilled spaces (Andrejevic, 2004; Dubrofsky, 2011a). However, Berry (2014) suggests that queer identities are "more situated, fluid, and complicated" rather than "fixed, static, and uniform" (p. 92), or in this case "consistent." This chapter theorizes queer authenticity by building on Ahmed's (2006) notion of queer, where she specifies that "to make things queer is to disturb the order of things" (p. 161) and Halperin's (1997) articulation that "queer is by definition whatever is at odds with the normal," (p. 62) to articulate how queer identities that are fluid and complicated can be presented as authentic. To theorize queer authenticity in UKVTW, I ask: How are drag queens, as queer identities, presented as authentic on *UKVTW*?

Building on scholarship suggesting that authenticity is arbitrary, I turn to Enli's (2015) notion of "mediated authenticity"—that what is presented as authentic in a media product is a blend of purposefully capturing real moments on camera and curating them into a media product. What I analyze in this chapter is a mediated authenticity because we can never know if these participants are being authentic—I can only analyze how the series presents them as authentic. Dubrofsky (2022) suggests that surveillance in popular media, in this case RTV, functions to produce what Michel Foucault (1995) calls the "truth effect," that is, what the cameras capture actually happened (regardless of post-production editing) and "works in the service of giving seeming insight into the inner self—the authentic core" (Dubrofsky, 2022, p. 16).

Drag Race complicates this notion of an "authentic core" because the participants on Drag Race are only identified by their drag names (the names of their drag personas), not their legal names (there is one example on UKVTW and this will be described later). For example, on UKVTW one of the British participants, Cheryl Hole is only referred to on the series as Cheryl or Cheryl Hole not by her legal name Luke. This implies that the self presented on Drag Race is a reflection of who the drag persona is, not who they are outside of drag. I want to note that Drag Race participants do not have agency in what is presented on the final edited version of the series—the workers on the series, such as the editors and producers—make those decisions. Participants are aware, however, when they sign up to be on the series, that they will be expected to perform in drag and will be identified solely by their drag name.

Like other reality-based programming, *Drag Race* uses the apparatus of surveillance to verify the authenticity of participants. Dubrofsky (2011b) argues that for RTV participants to be seen as authentic they need to show "that they are authentically, on camera, the same person they are (ostensibly) in their own lives" (p. 117). In other words, to be seen as authentic RTV

participants are presented in a manner that suggests this is who they are outside of the series. Dubrofsky and Ryalls (2014) describe this performance as performing-not-performing-"appearing to behave in a manner that does not involve performing, seeming to be one's true self despite being under surveillance" (Dubrofsky, 2018, p. 167). Elsewhere, Dubrofsky (2007) theorizes the "therapeutics of the self," which she describes as "the process of affirming a consistent (unchanged) self across disparate social spaces, verified by surveillance" (p. 266). The "therapeutics of the self" extends therapeutic discourses about self-improvement, by suggesting RTV participants can have a therapeutic experience by displaying a consistent self across disparate social spaces. Displaying a consistent self in different contexts of an RTV series suggests that the self presented is the participant's "authentic" self. However, it is not enough to appear as a consistent self to verify authenticity, participants must also appear as though they are not being surveilled, that is, they also perform-not-perform to appear authentic. Central to this scholarship on authenticity is the body of participants because what is being analyzed is Enli's notion of mediated authenticity—that all there is to analyze is what is physically presented to us on the screen, in this case the bodies of participants. Dubrofsky (2011b) reminds us that authenticity in surveillance environments, like RTV, "affixes displays of authenticity to a body" (p. 117). What we see are visual representations captured by the cameras and we draw conclusions about who is appearing authentic by how RTV participants are represented. Drawing connections across scholarship on authenticity in RTV, I conclude that by pairing the "therapeutics of the self" with "performing-not-performing," current scholarship suggests an authentic self performs-not-performs a consistent physical self across the disparate spaces of RTV.

Building on this scholarship about authenticity in RTV, this chapter argues Drag Race presents a queer authenticity in two ways. The first queers the "therapeutics of the self" (Dubrofsky, 2007) and the notion that "authenticity is affixed to a body" (Dubrofsky, 2011b) by suggesting that Drag Race participants are seen as authentic if they present a consistent sense of self across the disparate presentations of the self while in and out of drag. This shifts authenticity away from being "affixed to a body," and suggests that RTV participants are still seen as authentic despite the inconsistent presentation of a physical self, in the case of *Drag Race*, characterized by the literal physical change of getting in and out of drag on the series. The second part of queer authenticity challenges the notion of "performing-not-performing," (Dubrofsky & Ryalls, 2014). While Drag Race participants do perform-not-perform in certain spaces on the series they also are seen intentionally performing for the camera as they participate in the challenges on the series. Participants who are seen as authentic present a consistent sense of self while both performing-not-performing and what I call performing-performing-appearing as though one is intentionally performing while under surveillance. I define queer authenticity as presenting a consistent sense of self across disparate presentations of the self while performingnot-performing and performing-performing. As I noted earlier queer identities are "more situated, fluid, and complicated," (Berry, 2014, p. 92). Drag Race's representation of queer identities offers an opportunity to theorize "queer authenticity" to make sense of how queer identities are presented as authentic in surveillance settings. The ideas in this chapter can be applicable to any season of Drag Race because the format and premise of the series is common across the franchises. I focus my analysis on UKVTW because the ideas theorized here lay the foundation for chapter two which relies on the specificity of UKVTW as the first franchise of Drag Race to suggest it represents "global drag."

#### **Queering Authenticity on the Body**

On *UKVTW* it is the participants manipulation of their bodies that creates the illusion of the drag persona. The premise of the series is participants transforming into their drag persona's and participating in challenges that gauge their success in acting, dancing, singing, writing song lyrics, impersonating celebrities, doing make-up, designing, and constructing garments, walking a runway, and lip synching. While all the *UKVTW* participants have different aesthetics and styles of drag all transformations include make-up, wigs, and costumes; and most, involve prosthetic breasts, foam padding to give the illusion of larger hips, and corsets to create and hour-glass like figure. Judith Butler's (1990) writings on gender performativity and drag are useful here to make sense of how central the body is in drag performance. Taking a page from Butler about gender's performativity:

Gender proves to be performative—that is, constituting the identity it is purported to be. In this sense, gender is always a doing... There is no gender identity behind the expressions of gender; that identity is performatively constituted by the very

"expressions" that are said to be its results. (p. 34)

In other words, there is no stable gender identity, but gender is constituted through its repetitive performance in the everyday. The transformation into the hyper-feminine drag persona reminds us of the performative nature of drag, that is, like gender, drag is "always a doing." Butler (1990) also writes, "In imitating gender, drag implicitly reveals the imitative structure of gender itself— as well as its contingency" (p. 187). Imitation and contingency are inherent to the nature of drag because of how it is put on to the body—putting on makeup, costumes, wigs, prosthetics—as well as how drag can be taken off the body—removing the make-up, costumes, wigs. The putting

on and taking off of drag is central to the narrative of *UKVTW* and produces different physical representations of the self on the series that are all referred to by the name of the drag persona.

I categorize the presentations of the self on *UKVTW* into a few categories: the in-drag self, the out-of-drag self, and the in-between-drag self. The in-drag self is when queens are dressed in drag performing as their drag persona (as opposed to a character, described shortly), the in-drag self is present on the Main Stage, in some of the Maxi challenges, and in Untucked. The out-of-drag-self is when the queens are in their everyday clothes and are presented as who they are in their lives outside of being a drag queen. The out-of-drag self is always in the Confessional, usually in the Werk Room, and occasionally on the Main Stage during rehearsals. There are multiple spaces on the series where the lines between the in-drag-self and out-of-dragself are blurred. I describe the self present in these instances as the "in-between-drag self"where the queens' presentations of themselves in-drag and out-of-drag blend together. The inbetween-drag self is present when the queens reference their lives outside of the series, are getting ready in the Werk Room, or when they take on a different caricature for a challenge such as impersonating a celebrity or playing a character in a scripted theater or acting challenge. These will each be used throughout this chapter to clarify how the participants are being presented.

The performative nature of drag requires a rethinking of authenticity that suggests it is connected to a static representation of the body. *UKVTW* presents a queer authenticity that does not inscribe authenticity on to a static presentation of the self, which to Ahmed's words (2006) "disturbs the order of things," in this case UKVTW disturbs understandings of authenticity. Queer authenticity moves beyond the notion of a "consistent physical self," and suggests that RTV participants can be presented as authentic across various presentations of the self by

presenting a consistent sense of self, in *UKVTW* this is the in-drag self, the out-of-drag self, and the in-between-drag self. The best way to illustrate how queer authenticity is present on *UKVTW* is to analyze the in-between-drag self.

The in-between-drag-self is where the queens do the most work to maintain a stable sense of identity and is where queer authenticity comes to the forefront on *UKVTW*. Across the multiple presentations of the self the queens are referred to solely by the name of their drag persona on *UKVTW*. However, as I noted earlier, there is an instance on the series where one of the queens, Jujubee, refers to her life outside of the series by using her legal name—this is that instance. In the finale episode, the last episode of the season, the remaining four queens walk the runway for the last time and line up on stage to receive their final critiques from the judges about their time on the series. After each of the judges provide their remarks to each of the queens, RuPaul asks them individually "Why do you think the world needs drag now, more than ever?" While each of the four queens reference their time on the series and their lives outside of the series, Jujubee specifically references her younger self by her legal name, Airline:

As a queer person, as a drag queen, we have the ability because of you, Ru, to shine light into even the most darkest places, Airline, that little kid, had nobody to look up to, but when he saw you Mama, he was like, "Oh my gosh, ornamental, you know? I want to do that" and its the full circle moment, I'm here, and I think that's why the world needs drag more now because its love.

Jujubee referring to her younger self by her legal name, Airline, makes this a unique instance of the in-between-drag self because Jujubee frames Airline as a someone separate from herself. Jujubee reminds us of drag's performative nature in this instance because Jujubee, the drag persona, is someone that Airline has become.

Jujubee's unique instance on the series referring to her legal name brings to the forefront drag's performativity on the series that is implied, but rarely explicit. In Butler's *Gender Trouble* (1990) she quotes anthropologist Esther Newton's work on drag queens which is worth quoting here at length:

At its most complex, [drag] is a double inversion that says, "appearance is an illusion." Drag says [Newton's curious personification] "my 'outside' appearance is feminine, but my essence 'inside' [the body] is masculine." At the same time it symbolizes the opposite inversion; "my appearance 'outside' [my body, my gender] is masculine but my essence

'inside' [myself] is feminine. (Newton, 1972, p. 103 quoted in Butler, 1990, p.186). In other words, Newton suggests that drag queens are revealing some inner "essence" when they get into drag. This essence that drag reveals is what Foucault (1995) would refer to as the soul which he claims is not an illusion, but "exists, it has a reality, it is produced permanently around, on, within, the body" (p. 29). Butler builds on Newton and Foucault's ideas and suggests that the performance of gender is producing the inner core on to the body. In the case of drag, the use of wigs, makeup, costumes, and prosthetics are used to reveal the inner essence. Jujubee mentioning her legal name on stage reminds us that Jujubee is the drag persona—something that has been put on, a performance—and separate from who she is outside of being a drag queen, Airline.

Jujubee's scene on the Main Stage in the finale illustrates how the in-between-drag self is present on *UKVTW* because Jujubee is in drag on the Main Stage while sharing a story using her legal name that reminds us that the in-drag self is a persona that is not a singular self. Queer authenticity is present in this scene because she is presented as authentic despite her disrupting

the notion of a "consistent self," Jujubee reminds us that her identity is not static, but complicated and fluid because he is both Airline and Jujubee on the Main Stage.

#### **Performing Queer Authenticity**

In RTV being seen as authentic is usually twinned with being successful on the series (Dubrofsky, 2011b). Here, I argue that queer authenticity is present while participants are both performing-performing and performing-not-performing while under surveillance. Dubrofsky and Ryalls (2014) describe performing-not-performing as appearing to seem as though one is not performing under surveillance—suggesting that because RTV participants are aware they are being surveilled they are always performing to appear as though they are unaware they are being surveilled. I coin the term performing-performing, that is, appearing to intentionally perform under surveillance. This is a phenomenon common to several types of competitive RTV series where the premise of the series is to gauge a skill such as singing (American Idol, The Voice), dancing (So You Think You Can Dance), or comedy (Last Comic Standing), and in this case drag performance. However, performing-performing is critical for understanding authenticity on Drag Race because to be successful on the series participants should appear authentic while performing-performing. In this section, I analyze the winner of UKVTW Blu Hydrangea and argue that she is presented as authentic throughout the series while performing-performing and performing-not-performing.

There are two parts to being a successful *Drag Race* contestant on the series. The first is being a good drag queen by succeeding in the challenges which test queens' abilities to act, dance, sing, lip sync, write jokes, impersonate celebrities, do make-up, design fashion, and walk a runway, this is performing-performing. The second part of being a successful *Drag Race* contestant is being a good RTV participant by performing-not-performing to seem authentic

across the social spaces of the series through disclosing narratives of shame, trauma, self-doubt, but also self-growth and personal transformation. Sharing narratives of personal trauma and selfdoubt is central to affirming contestants' authenticity on *UKVTW*, this will be outlined in more detail shortly. This is not particularly unique to *Drag Race* as other reality television shows require participants to participate in challenges while also performing to appear authentic (e.g., *The Bachelor, The Bachelorette, Big Brother, Survivor, American Idol, So You Think You Can Dance*). However, unique to *Drag Race* is doing all of this while performing as a drag persona. Queer authenticity suggests that RTV participants are presented as authentic by presenting a consistent sense of self that is not connected to the body; because authenticity is not affixed to the body queer authenticity can be presented while both performing-performing and performingnot-performing.

#### Be a Good Drag Queen: Performing-Performing on UKVTW

Throughout *UKVTW* Blu Hydrangea is presented as a successful drag queen because she ranks either in the top or safe (middle of the pack—neither the best nor the worst) five out of the six episodes. Queer authenticity in the challenges is measured by the queens' ability to maintain a consistent sense of identity while performing-performing. In episode four Blu Hydrangea is one of the top two queens of the week and the main challenge is Snatch Game—a challenge featured on every season of *Drag Race* across all franchises since the second season of *RPDR* (2010). In this challenge queens impersonate a celebrity and answer questions for comedic effect in a game show-like set up reminiscent of the US game show *The Match Game* (1962-1969). In the Snatch Game, RuPaul asks special celebrity guests questions (real celebrities making a guest appearance on the series), which are typically crude, hyperbolic, and rely on sarcasm and irony. The drag queen contestants, who are impersonating other celebrities, try to guess what the actual

celebrity guests wrote down. The queens are expected to practice comedic timing, celebrity impersonation, and be able to improvise jokes and engage in humorous banter with one another and RuPaul. The accuracy of the answers to the questions RuPaul asks is irrelevant, as the gauge for success in the challenge is garnering laughs from the judges.

Snatch Game is a challenge where the in-between-drag-self is present as queens are expected to maintain some sense of their drag persona while impersonating another caricature. While only required to impersonate a single celebrity during Snatch Game, Blu Hydrangea takes on the additional challenge of performing two characters during the game: Mike Myers as Austin Powers and Dr. Evil from the Austin Powers film franchise. RuPaul, Michelle Visage, and special celebrity guest, British television personality Katie Price, along with the other contestants laugh at Blu's performance, showing that Blu succeeds at all the tasks: comedic timing, improvisation, and impersonation. During the critiques, the judges specifically note that Blu's Snatch Game performance was particularly impressive because of her ability to maintain her sense of self while being in-drag and playing another character. Blu's authenticity is not fixated on her presentation of Blu Hydrangea, she is still able to be seen as authentic while performing as Mike Myers. RuPaul tells Blu: "You really did make it your own, it was fun playing with you and that's really what Snatch Game is all about." Blu's success is attributed to her ability to "make it [her] own," suggesting a successful Snatch Game is when queens succeed at impersonation while maintain a sense of self. In Snatch Game, Blu's queer authenticity is presented because she maintains a sense of self while performing the in-between-drag-self while performing-performing in Snatch Game.

#### Be an Open Book: Performing-Not-Performing on UKVTW

The ideal Drag Race contestant shares stories of personal growth through disclosing moments and feelings of personal trauma, shame, and self-doubt from experiences on the series and from outside of the series. Media studies scholarship suggests the display of personal trauma is a core aspect of reality television (Biressi & Nunn, 2005; Ouellette & Hay, 2008). Drag Race is no exception. Debra Ferreday (2020) in her article about the "angry black woman" trope on Drag Race argues "[RuPaul] plays a policing role, providing closure for contestants who demonstrate the ability to appropriately perform and commodify their trauma, while expelling those who fail do so" (p. 46). Ferreday suggests the successful Drag Race contestant is able to have their personal shame and trauma presented on the series and will perform as having received closure because of their time on the series. These are instances where performing-notperforming occur as participants are seen seemingly choosing to disclose intimate moments from their personal lives as though they are not being watched. However, turning back to what Dubrofsky (2022) tells us about surveillance in popular media, she suggests that the role of surveillance "works in the service of giving seeming insight into the inner self-the authentic core" (p. 16). Blu Hydrangea reveals her "authentic core" while sharing a story about her life off the series this is an instance of performing-not-performing.

In episode two of *UKVTW*, Blu discloses her experience with gender dysphoria with fellow participants, Cheryl Hole and Jujubee. During this scene, the queens are out-of-drag in the Werk Room preparing for the main challenge. Blu describes how after competing on the first season of *RuPaul's Drag Race UK* she was doing so many performances in drag as Blu Hydrangea that she began to experience gender dysphoria. Blu tells Cheryl and Jujubee that becoming Blu Hydrangea was the only time she felt confident in her body. In this moment, Blu

while out-of-drag on *UKVTW* separates herself from her life off the series as she refers to Blu as someone, she "turned into." Similar to Jujubee's experience analyzed above, Blu Hydrangea presents us with an instance of queer authenticity where she performs the in-between-drag-self while referencing her life outside of the series. In this scene, the in-between-drag self is characterized by Blu drawing connections from her life outside of the series and her experiences on the series. Blu discloses this information to the camera and she is presented as authentic for doing so because she has revealed some "authentic core." Here, queer authenticity is presented a consistent identity through the in-between-drag-self connecting a participant's life off the series with their experiences on the series.

During this scene with Jujubee and Cheryl there is a crosscut confessional where Blu speaks directly to the camera saying: "I found drag, and the only thing that makes me happy is being this woman, and that then led me to being confused about my gender." During the confessional, Blu further describes that during this part of her recent past she thought she might be a transwoman and had the support from her partner in thinking about transitioning. In the confessional directly to the camera Blu shares: "No one else knows about this. I was completely keeping it secret." As Jujubee and Cheryl move in closer to Blu and hold her hand, we are invited through the camera into this intimate moment of confession from Blu. This scene is characterized as a confession in part because she is talking directly to us in the confessional, but also because she is seen as voluntarily disclosing information to Cheryl and Jujube. Foucault (1990) writes that confession to articulate how surveillance works as an apparatus to confess the self. Specifically in the context of RTV, Dubrofsky (2007) writes that "all that is surveilled by the cameras can be used to confess the self" (p. 272). While RTV participants can confess to the

cameras, what is presented as a confessed self is determined in the editing and production process. Building on Foucault who writes that the person who confesses changes: "it exonerates, redeems, and purifies him; it unburdens him of his wrong, liberates him, and promises him salvation" (p. 62), Dubrofsky (2007) suggests that confessing to the cameras can become a catalyst for self-growth in RTV settings. Following Blu telling us she had the support of her partner to come out as trans, we see her tell Cheryl and Jujubee that she has become more educated about gender and that she describes herself as somewhere "in-between" male and female.

Blu is presented as liberated from her secret about her gender identity after this confession because she is presented as more educated about gender and has a better sense of who she is as a person and as a drag queen. We do not know if the scene in the Werk Room or Blu's confessionals were recorded first. However, the order in which they are presented to us on screen is constructed to represent Blu as experiencing self-growth. It is through the editing and production process that we come to know Blu Hydrangea as someone who has experienced selfgrowth through the act of confession on the series. Turning back to Enli's (2015) notion of mediated authenticity—all that is recorded actually happened, but what is presented to us is a curated media product-we understand Blu's presentation of authenticity is a construed by the production process. Like Ferreday (2020) suggests, successful Drag Race participants are seen sharing a narrative of self-out or personal trauma and because of their time on the series they experience self-growth. Blu's queer authenticity is not fixed to her body in this scene, even though we only see her out-of-drag self, because she is drawing connections between her drag persona, the out-of-drag self presented on the series, and her life off the series. Here, queer authenticity is presented by Blu connecting her experience with gender dysphoria as it relates to

the multiple presentations of her self while performing-not-performing by sharing a story of personal growth.

#### Failing at Queer Authenticity

So far I have described how queer authenticity on *UKVTW* is presented by the participants presenting a consistent sense of self that is not attached to the body; therefore, through the lens of queer authenticity the drag queen participants are able to appear as authentic across the series whether in-drag or out-of-drag. In this last section, I describe how queens who fail to present queer authenticity on the series are seen as inauthentic and eventually eliminated. I turn my attention to Canadian drag queen, Jimbo who was one of the top ranking queens in episodes one and two. However, in episode three Jimbo fails to maintain her queer authenticity which results in her elimination at the end of the episode.

In episodes one and two of *UKVTW*, Jimbo gains success for claiming queer authenticity and maintaining it across the social spaces of *UKVTW*. During a conversation amongst the queens in the Werk Room while getting ready for the Main Challenge in episode one, Jimbo describes herself as a clown. In episode one the challenge is to present a talent show act showcasing each queen's individual talents. Jimbo performs a comedy act, she describes as clowning. Jimbo wears a head-to-toe white latex body suit with black eye and lip makeup and a protruding belly where she then "births" lunch meat and throws it on herself and at RuPaul on the judging panel. The performance is seen as a success throughout as the judges and fellow contestants initially look confused but begin to laugh throughout the performance. British drag queen and fellow contestant Cheryl Hole remarks in a crosscut confessional, "What is going on?" and Baga Chipz whispers to Cheryl from the side stage "I thought I was mad," all while laughing. The performance garners praise from the judges because of Jimbo's comedic flair and

originality. Graham Norton tells Jimbo that he enjoys her "kind of drag." Special guest judge Melanie C. from the Spice Girls, shares her love for Jimbo's act by telling her it is "outstandingly weird." Jimbo receives positive feedback from each of the judges and RuPaul declares Jimo has one of the top two queens of the episode. During the Untucked, Jimbo shares "it is my dream to clown for Ru." Here, Jimbo presents queer authenticity by describing herself as a clown and acting as such while performing-performing on the Main Stage in-drag and performing-not-performing in the Werk Room out-of-drag and in Untucked while in-drag. Jimbo's consistent sense of self across the different presentations of the self in drag and out of drag presents her as authentic.

In episode three Jimbo fails to maintain her queer authenticity through not performing a consistent identity on *UKVTW* and is placed in the bottom and eventually eliminated at the end of the episode. As mentioned earlier there are challenges on *UKVTW* which require the queens to take on a caricature, like impersonating a celebrity in Snatch Game or in this case on episode three, performing in a "Rusical" (branded spoof of a musical based on RuPaul's name). The Rusical is a challenge where the in-between-drag-self is present because the participants must maintain some sense of self while playing a character—like in Snatch Game described earlier. The queens are given a parody of a classic musical theater character to perform in a scripted and choreographed "Rusical." Jimbo is given the part of Dodo, a parody of the dog Toto from *The Wizard of Oz.* The queens are challenged to learn choreography, a scripted lip sync, and act as a character with props on stage. After the Rusical, the queens are critiqued by the judges and Jimbo is placed in the bottom. Jimbo is commended by the judges for succeeding at the choreography, but RuPaul says, "What we wanted to see was half you, half the [choreography], that's why I say you learn it and then throw it out, that's what the challenge is about." Unlike Blu

Hydrangea who succeeded in Snatch Game because she was able to maintain a sense of self while impersonating a celebrity, Jimbo fails at the Rusical because she loses her sense of self while performing as Dodo. Here, Jimbo fails at presenting a consistent sense of self while performing-performing in the Rusical. She succeeds at performing-performing in the Rusical as RuPaul commends her on her choreography it is understood that she did the challenge well, but her inability to be Jimbo while performing as Dodo renders the performance as inauthentic. Jimbo's inauthentic performance results in Jimbo receiving negative critiques, placing in the bottom for the episode, and ultimately in her elimination. As I noted prior the successful RTV participants is one that is seen as authentic across a RTV series, despite Jimbo's success performing queer authenticity in episodes one and two, her inauthentic performance in episode three resulted in her not being the ideal *UKVTW* contestant. The purpose of outlining Jimbo's shortcomings is to articulate the fragility of queer authenticity on *UKVTW*.

### "To Infinity and Beyond?": Concluding Thoughts on Queer Authenticity

The queer authenticity I theorize in this chapter provides a lens to articulate how queer bodies that are, to use Berry's (2014) words "situated, fluid, and complicated," (p. 92) can be seen as authentic in surveillance settings. I define queer authenticity as presenting a consistent sense of self across disparate presentations of the self while performing-not-performing and performing-performing. Current scholarship about performing authenticity in surveillance settings suggests there must be a consistent physical self (Dubrofsky, 2007; Dubrofsky 2011b) that appears to be performing-not-performing (Dubrofsky & Ryalls, 2014). This chapter extends this scholarship by theorizing queer authenticity as a lens to make sense of identities, such as drag queens who are not always represented by a consistent identity affixed to the body. However, I want to suggest that the queer authenticity I have described here is only one of many

potential queer authenticities in popular media. Butler (1993) in her article "Critically Queer" reminds us about queer's radical potential. She writes

Queer will have to remain that which is, in the present, never fully owned, but always and only redeployed, twisted, queered from a prior usage and in the direction of urgent and expanding political purposes (Butler, 1993, p. 173).

In other words, queer is always evolving to be current with the political climate, it is always working against the normative. Following Butler's logic there may be infinite queer authenticities as queer is always creating, recreating, and destroying itself. Turning back to Johnson's (2003) suggestion that while authenticity is arbitrary if left unexamined it can lead to privileging some identities over others: I encourage us to always ask what is queer authenticity? What or who is working against the status quo to prove authenticity? In the next chapter, I build on these ideas by suggesting *UKVTW* uses queer authenticity as a way to privilege some drag identities over others.

### **CHAPTER TWO:**

## "ARE YOU READY FOR THAI TEA?": STRATEGIC WESTERNNESS ON UKVTW

In this chapter I argue the "global" drag identity that UKVTW suggests it represents is inherently white because it privileges Western drag performers-as I note in the Introduction, "global" is in quotations to suggest that the series can never represent anything global, but the series sees itself as doing so. In episode one, RuPaul claims UKVTW is the "greatest drag show on Earth" and says she is searching for a "global superstar". The winner is crowned "Queen of the Mother-Tucking World" and when a queen is eliminated RuPaul tells them they "will always be a global phenomenon." Through this phrasing RuPaul suggests that the participants' time on the series makes them representatives of global drag, implying how the series sees itself: as having a global impact and important in defining global drag. I argue the series represents what Dubrofsky and Ryalls (2014) describe as a postracial ethos, that is, how "race is configured as irrelevant, while at the same time whiteness is centered" (p. 400). Race is presented as irrelevant on the series, instead UKVTW centers the participants nationalities as the queens represent their home countries while competing to be RuPaul's "global superstar." RTV scholarship, to date, has yet to address how RTV series with casts of participants from multiple countries represent nationality, in part because UKVTW represents one of the first series to feature a cast of international participants and suggest the winner represents the world. Radhika Parameswaran's (2004) scholarship on Miss Universe pageants is worth noting because of the multiple nationalities represented in Miss Universe pageants, as well as Diana Leon-Boys' (2023) and Angharad Valdivia's (2020) scholarship about multi-national representations of Latinidad;

however, my focus is on how authenticity is used to privilege certain national identities something that *UKVTW* as an RTV series is a productive site for analyzing. I am attentive to the national identities on *UKVTW* and ask: If *UKVTW* suggests it represents global drag, then what is *UKVTW*'s brand of global drag? Who gets to represent global drag?

Little attention has been given to how Drag Race has branded itself as "global" in recent years with the expansion of the series into fourteen different international franchises. The international franchises are filmed and produced in their respective countries. The international series are hosted by drag queens from their home countries, except for the two international series hosted by RuPaul (Drag Race UK and Drag Race Down Under). Central to the storyline in each season of Drag Race is finding the country's "Next Drag Superstar." Brennan and Gudelunas in the introduction to their edited collection, Drag in the Global Digital Public Sphere (2022b), suggest Drag Race has created a "digital global drag space", defined by Drag *Race*'s international production, distribution, and social media presence. Gudelunas (2022) suggests the global circulation of the US version of Drag Race prior to Drag Race's international distribution demonstrated what kind of drag was worthy of being crowned a "Drag Superstar." Brennan and Gudelunas's contributors describe how local drag cultures in Namibia (Matthews, 2022), Brazil (Pepe, 2022; Sarfati & dos Santos, 2022), and India (Brahmacharimayum & King, 2022) have been influenced by Drag Race but also how local drag performers are resisting and subverting the "Western drag practices" of Drag Race (Brahmacharimayum & King, 2022, p. 235). While this scholarship has noted how Drag Race influences local drag cultures across the globe, UKVTW is a series that warrants attention because it is Drag Race's first direct and explicit effort to define a global drag identity. I argue the kind of "global drag" UKVTW presents

privileges Western drag performers by articulating Pangina Heals, the only drag queen from a non-western country on the series, as "the Other."

Drawing on postcolonial scholarship, I understand "the Other" as an ideological construct, that frames the "East/South/colonized" as inferior to the dominant "West/North/colonized" (Alahmed, 2020, p. 408). I use Eiki Furumizo's (2005) articulation of "the Other" which suggests "the Other" is formed in opposition to how the dominant view themselves as superior and is influenced by history, culture, and ideology. Furthermore, Furumizo suggest that this conception of "the Other" is a relational construct situated in relation to the Self. The Other is always seen as subordinate to the Self because we will naturally view ourselves as superior. In the case of *UKVTW*, the Western countries (United States, Canada, The Netherlands, United Kingdom) are presented as the normative and the only non-Western country (Thailand) is the "Other." I opt to use the term non-Western in lieu of other popular terms such as the Global South, the East, or Asian because each of these terms have their own histories that are not applicable in terms of discussing how Pangina is represented on *UKVTW*. My argument in this chapter is about how she is "othered" in relation to the West, not how she represents, or if she even represents Asia, the East, or the Global South.

This chapter argues that *UKVTW* represents a postracial imaginary—a fantasized space that suggests race is a historical issue and insignificant to a contemporary reality that centers whiteness. Under the guise of postracism, *UKVTW* becomes symptomatic of what I call "strategic westernness"—how Western cultural norms maintain their dominance as the normative—which I argue is a strategy of whiteness. I then suggest that *UKVTW* uses authenticity as a strategy of Westernness to mark Pangina as "the Other" by devaluing her authenticity because of her emotionally excessive exit during her elimination in episode four. As

I theorized in chapter one, the authenticity present on *UKVTW* is a queer authenticity—when a participant shows a consistent identity across the multiple social spaces of the series that is not connected to a static representation of the body. I analyze how Pangina's authenticity is presented on the series from when she is introduced in episode one to her elimination episode four.

# UKVTW's Postracial Imaginary

Postracism is an ideology that, as Ralina Joseph (2009) suggests, "assumes the civil right movement effectively eradicated racism to the extent that not only does racism no longer exist, but race itself no longer matters" (p. 239). Brennan and Gudelunas (2022b) describe Drag Race as having an "LGBTQ-egalitarian ethos" that can be seen by the fact that eight of the fourteen winners of RPDR (US series) are queens of color. Most seasons, if not all, feature narratives about how participants of color overcome racism prior to being on the series. Kent Ono (2013) suggests that "narrative representations of race indirectly (and perhaps inadvertently) juxtapose a mature and modern postracial present against the no longer relevant-and backward and archaic—racial past" (p. 301). Similarly, Jonathan Rossing (2012) describes postracism as "a belief that positions race as an irrelevant relic of the past with no viable place in contemporary thought" (p. 45). In her article about the stereotype of the angry Black woman on Drag Race, Ferreday (2020) argues Drag Race frames narratives of racism on the series as something from the past and suggests Drag Race "gestures to a postracial future" (p. 471). Building on this scholarship, I argue UKVTW represents a postracial imaginary—a fantasized space that suggests race is a historical issue and insignificant to a contemporary reality that centers whiteness. I intentionally use "fantasized" to reinforce Ono's (2010) claim that postracism is a "fantasy that racism no longer exists" (p. 227) and that it is simply that—a fantasy.

The goal of UKVTW is for RuPaul to "crown a global superstar" as the participants represent their home countries on the series. The participants on UKVTW represent five different nationalities and three different racial identities. The two queens representing the United States are Mo Heart and Jujubee. Mo Heart is Black and Jujubee is East Asian American (Laotian specifically). The only queen representing *Drag Race Thailand* is Pangina Heals, who is East Asian (Thai). The six remaining queens are from the United Kingdom, Canada, and The Netherlands and are all white. The judges and participants do not discuss race, but they do discuss national identities. This is particularly evident in how the series presents Mo Heart and Jujubee as queens of color from the United States. Jujubee's racialization as an Asian American is not referenced or spoken about during the entirety of the series. However, Mo Heart's Blackness is brought up in a few disparate moments throughout the series. Given the series focus on national identity, I extend Ferreday's (2020) claim that Drag Race "gestures to a postracial future" (p. 471) and I argue UKVTW represents a postracial future, or as I have described prior, a postracial imaginary—a fantasized space that suggests race is a historical issue and insignificant to a contemporary reality that centers whiteness.

I analyze two moments where Mo Heart brings up her Blackness, both of which are in episode five, to articulate how *UKVTW* represents a postracial imaginary. In episode five the remaining five queens, from the United States, the United Kingdom, and The Netherlands, are tasked with writing lyrics for a verse on RuPaul's song, "Living My Life in London" as part of their challenge for the episode. RuPaul tells them the song lyrics need to be about their relationship to their hometown. The first of the moments is while the queens are in the WerkRoom writing their lyrics and sharing ideas with one another. Mo describes that she feels like a "nomad" because she's travelled so much in recent years since she first appeared on the tenth season of *RPDR* in 2018. After listing some international cities she visited she says "as a little broke Black boy, you never thought, you know, outside of mission trips for church, thank you drag." Without explicitly saying it, Mo is suggesting that "a little broke Black boy" would never have had the opportunity to travel the world if it was not for drag. She attributes "drag," as the reason for her class mobility. Given the fame and notoriety that the queens receive after being on the show, Mo is implying that it is the fact she was on *Drag Race* that has provided her the economic means to travel internationally in recent years. In this instance, beyond "gesturing toward a postracial future" (Ferreday, 2020, p. 471) *UKVTW* represents a space where Mo has overcome her past characterized by her race because of her time on *Drag Race* and is now a "global phenomenon" on *UKVTW*.

The second of these moments where Mo brings up her Blackness is later in episode five while the queens are getting ready in the WerkRoom and are discussing their childhoods in their hometowns. This segment is a space where we see the queens getting into drag and sharing stories about their lives off the series. White contestants Janey Jacke from The Netherlands and Blu Hydrangea from Northern Ireland talk about how they grew up in rural areas where there were religious tensions about being gay. They both share how moving to a larger city when they were older provided them the space to be themselves and Janey talks about how her parents were very supportive of her being gay. Mo Heart is putting on her make up while sitting next to Blu and Janey during this conversation. Janey turns and asks Mo about her relationship with religion. Mo details how she grew up an only child to a mother who is a fourth-generation Christian minister, and Mo shares that before she came out as gay she was a full-time Christian minister. She describes her childhood as lonely because so much of her time had to be spent in church. Mo refers to the church she was a part of as the "Black church" and tells us about her experience

with conversion therapy (a pseudoscience therapeutic tactic to convert people from being gay to straight). At the end of her story, Mo in a confessional tells us directly to the camera:

For anyone out there who thinks they need to go to conversion therapy, No you don't.

Don't waste your time or your money. You are enough. There is not one part of you that is broken.

Conversion therapy is something anyone might experience, not just those raised in Black churches. However, Mo's discussion about her experience growing up is presented as more intense than Blu's and Janey's because it is a longer sequence and is inner cut with confessional scenes where she provides additional details and comments beyond what is said in the Werk Room.

Mo's story suggests she has been transformed because of her past with the Black church and by going through conversion therapy. The use of the confessional is key to what makes Mo's narrative about overcoming this traumatic experience as transformative. Like I noted prior, the confessionals are where the participants are seen talking directly to the camera in a separate space and they typically are inner cut throughout an episode to provide additional details or insights about the main action occurring on the series. This type of scene, which is often featured as a short monologue of participants speaking to the camera, is not unique to *Drag Race* and is seen across the RTV genre (Grobe, 2017). The term "confessional" implies that these scenes are where the participants are confessing something to the viewer; however, Dubrofsky (2007) suggests that in RTV "all that is surveilled by the cameras can be used to confess the self" (p. 272), this includes all the footage captured by the camera, not just what is portrayed as a "confessional." Building on Foucault's (1990) ideas about confession which suggest the act of confession always requires another presence—someone to confess to in order to verify that

confession occurred—Dubrofsky (2007) describes surveillance as a "technology of confession" (p. 272), that is, surveillance functions as a virtual presence for individuals can confess. Foucault (1990) writes that the act of confession changes the person confessing: "It exonerates, redeems, and purifies him; it unburdens him of his wrongs, liberates him, and promises him salvation" (p. 62). Furthermore, Dubrofsky (2007) suggests that when RTV participants confess to the camera this can be used by the editing and production process to represent "a confessed self" and present the RTV participant as having been changed because of their confession. Between what Mo shares with Blu and Janey in the Werk Room and what Mo shares in the confessional, her "confessed self" is presented as being "liberated" from her past because she is now denouncing conversion therapy.

During this scene, Mo's "confessed self" becomes an example of how *UKVTW* represents a postracial imaginary. At the end of this conversation between Blu, Janey, and Mo the queens acknowledge how it's interesting they have similar experiences even though they are from different parts of the world. In the Werk Room, Blu, who is sitting between Janey and Mo, says "It's so weird how the three of us are from completely different places but have faced similar hardships." Janey and Mo nod their heads in agreement as they continue getting ready. This is an example of how the series represents a postracial imaginary. Mo's story about religion and conversion therapy is presented as a more intense experience than the brief stories Blu and Janey share. Despite Mo connecting her experiences with conversion therapy and religion to her Blackness, Blu suggests that their experiences are similar because they grew up gay in rural areas across the globe. The scene then cuts to a confessional where Mo says,

I'm not surprised at all that we have similar stories, weaved and threaded very differently because we are in different parts of the world, because if you just let people be them, they will love honor and respect you.

Mo is suggesting that they all have similar narratives that are different because of where they live in the world not because of their race. However, the narrative that was presented to us before Mo's confessional suggests that Mo's experience with religion and conversion therapy is more intense than Blu's and Janey's because of her Blackness. This scene in *UKVTW* does what Ono (2013) says narrative representations of postracism do— "juxtapose a mature and modern postracial present against the no longer relevant—and backward and archaic—racial past" (p. 301). Mo's experience from her past is characterized by her Blackness, but now, on *UKVTW* it is her nationality that distinguishes her as different from her white European competitors. Mo's "confessed self" is not only "liberated" from her past but liberated from how her Blackness influences her past.

*UKVTW* represents a postracial imaginary because race is something of the past on the series, it is not significant to how the queens are presented as seeing themselves. The series presents the queens as seeing themselves as representatives of their countries competing for the title of "Queen of the Mother-Tucking World." On *UKVTW*, nationality obfuscates race. Here, I have argued how *UKVTW* represents a postracial imaginary as a fantasized space suggesting race is an issue of the past and not relevant to the present by centering differences in nationality. In the following section, I argue how *UKVTW* as a postracial imaginary centers whiteness while focusing on the queens' nationality not their race.

#### **Strategic Westernness**

Scholarship about postracism in media argues that postracism operates as a strategy of whiteness, that is, whiteness maintains its dominance by depicting narratives that make racism palatable for white audiences (Cramer, 2016; Cramer, 2020; Cranmer & Harris, 2015; Dubrofsky, 2022; Dubrofsky & Ryalls, 2014; Griffin, 2015; Johnson, 2017; Oh, 2020). Analyzing representation in postracial contexts is complex because as Ono (2013) describes "postracial representation grows out of a putatively race-neutral standpoint, in an attempt to avoid negative forms of racial presentation" (p. 304). The complexity of analyzing race in a postracial media text is true of *UKVTW*, because as I argue in the previous section, nationality obfuscates race on *UKVTW*. In this section, I analyze how nationality is presented on *UKVTW* to make sense of how *UKVTW* as a postracial imaginary centers whiteness.

Building on "strategic whiteness" which suggests that whiteness maintains its superiority because of whiteness's ability to maintain dominance and normativity without calling attention to itself (Nakayama & Krizek, 1995; Projansky & Ono, 1999), I coin the term "strategic westernness," that is, how Western cultural references are the unquestionable normative assumption. I suggest that Westernness functions as a strategy of whiteness to maintain *UKVTW* as a postracial imaginary. The West can never escape whiteness because it is everything as Dyer (1988) tells us, "white is not anything really, not an identity, not a particularizing quality, because it is everything—white is no colour because it is all colours" (p. 45). In a postracial media text that centers nationality and obfuscates race whiteness still maintains its dominance. Westernness becomes a strategy for maintaining a postracial imaginary and for "Othering" Pangina as the only participant from a non-Western country.

Westernness is inherent to the series through the production and casting choices.

*UKVTW* is produced in the United Kingdom, airs on the BBC, and is distributed internationally on WOW Presents Plus (*Drag Race*'s Los Angeles Based Streaming Service). Eight of the nine competing participants are from North America (Canada and the United States) and Western Europe (the United Kingdom and The Netherlands). Two of the three main judges, RuPaul and Michelle Visage are from the United States. The third main judge, Graham Norton is from Ireland and the weekly guest judges (one or two per episode) are all from the United Kingdom. The series is also titled "*RuPaul's Drag Race: UK vs The World*" which suggests that the United Kingdom is competing against "the world." This overwhelmingly Western cast, judging panel, and production implies the series privileges Western identities in its production. While the intricacies of the production of *UKVTW* are outside the scope of this project the national identity of the cast and judges and the national rhetoric of the series' title imply that the series centers the West as the majority, juxtaposed against Pangina Heals the only participant representing a non-Western country as the minority.

Westernness is inscribed into the challenges on the series because to succeed the participants need competency in US and British cultural references. This is most prominent in episode two, three and four. In episode two the challenge is the "RuPaul Ball" where queens present three different outfits on the Main Stage inspired by RuPaul, one of which they must design and construct during the episode. This challenge suggests that the ideal *UKVTW* contestant will be familiar with RuPaul's stylistic choices and aesthetic; implying that RuPaul is inherent to the global drag identity promoted on *UKVTW*. In episode three, the Rusical, described in chapter one, queens perform as different parodies of classic musical theater characters from productions such as *The Wizard of Oz, Mamma Mia, The Sound of Music*, and

*Hairspray*—all of which are productions based in the United States or United Kingdom. Episode four is Snatch Game where queens impersonate a celebrity or other famous caricature. While the queens have the liberty to choose who they want to perform on *UKVTW* the six remaining queens each chose American references including musical artists Cher and Mariah Carey, actor Billy Porter, YouTube personality James Charles, Kathy Bates, and Michael Myers. Since the gauge of success on Snatch Game is to make the judges' laugh through impersonating the celebrity characters, choosing a character that the judges are most likely familiar with is often helpful. While it is not technically required to be educated and competent in these Western cultural references such as RuPaul's fashion interests, musical theater, and American celebrities, the participants must know some of these references to succeed in the challenges. To be successful on *UKVTW* requires participants to be fluent in Western popular culture.

Westernness is not just embedded into the architecture of the series through casting and production, it is used to mark Pangina Heals as a cultural "Other" through mundane comments from the judges. For instance, common across all the episodes of *UKVTW* is that the judges make seemingly lighthearted and often humorous commentary about the queens' runway presentations as the queens walk off stage. For the runway presentation in episode one, Pangina wears what she describes as "Thai-inspired couture": a floor-length silver gown, a tall silver headdress, and a blonde wig. During a voiceover while walking down the runway, she tells us the headdress is inspired by a Thai goddess and that the Thai alphabet is handstitched on to the dress. As Pangina is walking off the stage Michelle Visage is the first to comment: "Suddenly my telly's got channels it didn't have before." Her comment references the tall, pointed structure of Pangina's headdress by comparing it to a television antenna. Graham Norton follows up with, "She's giving me an eye-full." I presume this to be, although never stated, a reference to the Eiffel

Tower because of the similar shape. This is an instance of strategic westernness because of how Michelle and Graham's comments juxtaposed against Pangina's description disregard her Thai references. Framing Pangina's cultural references as obsolete for the sake of a comedic bit between the judges.

Comparatively, participants from Western countries wear outfits that are inspired by their nationality, but are not compared to irrelevant cultural references for the sake of a comedic bit. In episode four, the runway category is, "Luck Be a Lady." Blu Hydrangea and Baga Chipz from the United Kingdom both wear leprechaun-inspired runway outfits and they each talk about how they are Irish during the voiceover while they walk down the runway. The judges make a few light hearted remarks poking fun at the Irish and leprechaun references. When Baga Chipz walks out RuPaul says in a fake Irish accent "I think she's going to steal me lucky charms," and when Blu Hydrangea is walking down the runway Michelle Visage says "They all want a crack at that pot of gold." These comments reinstate the Westernness of *UKVTW* because they are Western cultural references that are about an outfit that is also a Western cultural reference. However, unlike Pangina, Blu and Baga are not "Othered" because their choices of what to wear on the runway fit within the Western standards of *UKVTW*. In the next section I describe how Westernness is used throughout the series to mark Pangina as "Other."

### **Authenticating Westernness**

In this section, I argue that authenticity functions as a strategy of Westernness. Continuing to build on scholarship about whiteness, I use Dubrofsky's (2022) argument detailing how authenticity functions as a strategy of whiteness: "Whiteness and authenticity . . . function in a similar fashion: like whiteness, authenticity gains salience and power by being unspoken, seemingly natural, and appearing to require no effort" (p. 6). Following this logic, I put this in

the context of *UKVTW* which centers national identities and suggest that Westernness also functions in this manner by "being unspoken, seemingly natural, and appearing to require no effort." As I argued earlier, Westernness is built into the architecture of the series through its production and the use of cultural references that success on the series relies on. Building on scholarship about authentic displays of emotion in RTV (Dubrofsky, 2009) I suggest that Pangina Heals' emotional exit is a "money shot" that is used to "other" her from the other Western participants. The money shot is a metaphor for a climax presented on the screen. This climax has been characterized in a variety of ways in scholarship. In the case of film pornography the ejaculating penis (McClintock, 1993; Williams, 1993), in daytime television when guests emotionally reveal secrets (Grindstaff, 2002), and in romance-based RTV when women's emotions are displayed excessively for narrative effect (Dubrofsky, 2009).

I use Dubrofsky's (2009) articulation of the "money shot" in RTV—a camera shot that captures RTV participants who are seen as so emotional they lost physical control. Dubrofsky analyzes how women on romance-based RTV series perform the "money shot" and she argues that shortly after a woman gives the "money shot" she is seen as unfit for love and is eliminated. More specifically, Dubrofsky argues that showing emotion is not bad, but when performed so excessively it disrupts the women's representation of themselves on the series and becomes an issue. Central to the money shot in RTV is the role of the surveillance of the cameras used to capture the moment which verifies its authenticity. Turning back to chapter one, I suggest that what we see on RTV is what Enli (2015) calls mediated authenticity, that is, a produced media product made from real footage caught on camera curated to be presented as authentic. The money shot is a part of the mediated authenticity in RTV because it is authentic in that it occurred and was captured on camera; however, it is used in the production of the RTV series to

frame a RTV participant as emotionally excessive. The money shot does not verify the authenticity of the participant, in fact it devalues the authenticity of the participant by suggesting that the consistent self they have been presenting on the series leading up to the money shot may not be their authentic self. I argue authenticity is a strategy of creating "the Other" as Pangina performs a "money shot" during her elimination which marks her as "Other" and devalues her authenticity on the series. Theorized in chapter one, the authenticity present on *UKVTW* is a queer authenticity—a participant's authenticity is verified by them showing a consistent sense of self across the disparate spaces of the series that is not connected to a static representation of the body.

Central to capturing the money shot is the buildup of action leading to the climactic moment when the participant loses bodily control due to emotions overtaking the body. For Pangina this buildup happens across the series in episodes one, two, and three because she has two challenge wins and was seen as the front runner of the competition. It is because Pangina is presented as the "one to beat" on the series that when she is eliminated in episode four after failing at Snatch Game she provides the "money shot". Described in chapter one, Snatch Game is a challenge where contestants impersonate a celebrity and success is gauged by their ability to practice comedic timing, impersonate a celebrity, and improvise jokes and engage in humorous conversation with each other and RuPaul. As described earlier, Snatch Game is a component of the series structure that reflects the Westernness of the series because participants are inclined to choose US or British celebrities that the judges are familiar with. Pangina impersonates US singer Mariah Carey. During Snatch Game, RuPaul and the other contestants do not laugh at Pangina's jokes or engage with her banter. She is presented as failing at Snatch Game. During the judges' critiques Pangina is complimented for the accuracy of her impersonation of Mariah

Carey. However, she is critiqued for her inability to make her funny. Ultimately, Pangina is one of the lowest performing queens in the episode because she was not funny in the Snatch Game and can potentially be eliminated. After the judges' critiques the queens go backstage to Untucked where the queens that are facing elimination meet with the top two ranking queens of the week to plead their case for why they should stay. In this episode the top two queens are Baga Chipz and Blu Hydrangea, both from Drag Race UK season one. Pangina meets with each of them individually to plead her case to stay in the competition. During Pangina and Blu's conversation, Blu tells Pangina she is her biggest competition because she has won two of the four challenges so far. Blu tells Pangina that she is tempted to eliminate her because she is the strongest competitor. Blu concludes her conversation with Pangina by expressing her love and respect for her and saying she does not believe she will have the heart to eliminate Pangina. Following their conversation, Pangina tells us in a confessional she does not think Blu will choose her to go home and that she hopes Blu wins the "Lip Sync for the World". Up to this point Pangina is presented as thinking she is going to be safe. Blu Hydrangea is presented as very inconspicuous about who she thinks she will eliminate because she reminds us there are other queens who are up for elimination such as Jujubee and Janey Jacke that have been in the bottom in multiple episodes and appear as more "justifiable" choices. All this action from the beginning of episode one up until this moment in Untucked in episode four create the spectacle of the "money shot." After Blu Hydrangea wins the "Lip Sync for the World" RuPaul asks Blu, "Which queen have you chosen to get the chop?" Blu begins justifying her choice before revealing she chose Pangina and says "at this point in the competition even just one misstep can send you home". Then, it is revealed that Blu chose to eliminate Pangina.

Here, the money shot commences but everyone on screen plays a role in establishing the money shot by distinguishing this elimination as different than the previous ones. After Blu reveals she chose Pangina we see a sequence of shocked reactions: RuPaul gasps, Pangina puts her face in her hands, Michelle Visage looks down and shakes her head, and the other three queens who were facing elimination grasp one another in shock. The queens reach out to comfort Pangina and RuPaul lets out a soft and audible "Wow". In the three previous episodes after the name of the queen who will be eliminated is revealed, RuPaul says "As it is written, so it shall be done" and tells the eliminated queen "You are and will always be a global phenomenon." However, this time the focus is on Pangina's face in her hands, showing her visibly upset, RuPaul is seen using a different tone and phrase, acknowledging how shocking this moment is compared to other eliminations. RuPaul pauses between "as it written," and "so it shall be done", and for a moment we are left wondering if she is going to make a special exception for Pangina. Afterward, RuPaul says "Pangina Heals. Listen to me. You are and will always be a global phenomeno."

Next, Pangina loses control of her body and is presented as succumbing to her emotions—this is the crux of the "money shot." When a queen is eliminated RuPaul tells them to "Sashay Away" (*Drag Race* vernacular for being eliminated from the competition). The eliminated queen typically wipes away tears, expresses thanks, and exits the stage with a comedic tagline. This is common across all seasons of *Drag Race*. The first three queens eliminated from *UKVTW* perform their elimination according to these conventions. However, when RuPaul tells Pangina to "Sashay Away," Pangina is overtaken with emotion and does not follow the conventions of being eliminated. Pangina cries on the Main Stage and says, "I want to say sorry to all the Thai people that I did not go all the way." Pangina sobs as she walks up the

runway to exit off stage. Instead of a comedic departing line, Pangina says in Thai while crying, "I'm sorry. I'm sorry, thank you" (translated from Thai to English with subtitles on the screen). Key to the money shot is losing bodily control while under surveillance (Dubrofsky, 2009), in Pangina's case this is characterized by her sobbing on screen. Pangina's emotions prevent her from following the conventions of how to be properly eliminated on *UKVTW*. After Pangina exits the stage, there are a few moments when the camera cuts between Blu Hydrangea, the judges, and other contestants while the sound of Pangina sobbing continues in the background.

Pangina's "money shot" relies on her success in the first three episodes and her confidence in Untucked that Blu will not eliminate her. If Pangina had been doing poorly in the competition or told us she anticipates she will be eliminated she most likely would not have displayed such excessive emotions, and if she had it would not have been presented in a way that suggested the viewer should sympathize with her. Dubrofsky (2009) suggests that in romantic RTV series the money shot puts women at risk, that the money shot signifies "a transgression of the participant's initial image and of how she wants to present herself. The transgression violates a woman's intended (as the series constructs it) presentation of the self." (p. 357). For Pangina, she violates how she is constructed as a good UKVTW contestant by losing bodily control. While Dubrofsky argues that in romance RTV series women who exhibit the money shot are shortly eliminated, Pangina has already been eliminated. However, the consequences for Pangina is her authenticity on the series is devalued because of her loss of bodily and emotional control. In this instance, Pangina is so overtaken with emotion she does not perform to the conventions of being eliminated by crying the whole way off the stage and then not saying a witty exit line. In *UKVTW* the "money shot" is a mechanism for "Othering" Pangina because she is the only participant who does not follow the conventions of being eliminated "properly." This is not

simply happenstance. As I noted prior, Pangina is subjected to strategic westernness throughout her time on the series and the "money shot" during her elimination is the penultimate representation of her as being "othered" as the only non-Western participant.

### "Looks White To Me!": Concluding Thoughts on Westernness

This chapter suggests that UKVTW's idea of a "global" drag identity is inherently white characterized by the series postracial ethos and "othering" its only non-Western participant. Building on scholarship about postracism and whiteness in popular media, I coin the term strategic westernness to articulate how a postracial media site such as UKVTW that centers nationality and obfuscates race still privileges some identities over others, in this case Western ones over non-Western ones. I suggest Westernness functions as a strategy of whiteness by allowing whiteness to maintain its dominance under the guise of Westernness. To assume that Westernness is separate from whiteness would only reinstate the values of postracism, that race is an issue of the past. Here, I have argued Westernness is strategic on UKVTW because it is inherent to the architecture of the series through its casting and production. Westernness on the series is reenforced and made evident through the judges comments and how Pangina is presented as "the Other" on the series by devaluing her authenticity. As media becomes more global and postracism continues to permeate the media landscape, whiteness will continue to maintain its dominance. This chapter suggests that calling attention to Westernness is a method for continuing to interrogate how whiteness maintains its dominance.

### **CHAPTER THREE:**

### SASHAYING INTO THE FUTURE OF QUEER AUTHENTICITY

Drag Race's global expansion will not be slowing down anytime soon. As of February 2023, Drag Race's international reach includes RuPaul's Drag Race UK (2019-present), RuPaul's Drag Race Down Under (2021-present), RuPaul's Drag Race UK vs The World (2022), Canada's Drag Race (2020-present), Canada's Drag Race: Canada vs The World (2022), Drag Race Thailand (2018-present), Drag Race Holland (2020-2021), Drag Race Espana (2021-present), Drag Race Italia (2021-present), Drag Race France (2022-present), Drag Race Philippines (2022-present), Drag Race Beligique (2023-present). Drag Race Sverige (Sweden) is scheduled to premiere in the summer of 2023 and casting calls were announced in October 2022 for franchises of Drag Race in Mexico, Brazil, and Germany. In November 2022, the Hong Kong based media group, O4 Media, announced they will represent Drag Race across Asia with plans to produce franchises in India, Japan, Singapore, and South Korea, as well as take over the production of Drag Race Thailand. As Drag Race remains the most popular representation of queer people in popular media its global expansion deserves our critical attention. Reality television series that feature largely, if not all, queer cast members include We're Here (2020-present), Legendary (2020-2022), The Boulet Brother's Dragula (2016present), Call Me Mother (2021-present), and Trixie Motel (2022). While Drag Race is the most popular and successful due to its fifteen-year tenure, international distribution, and critical acclaim, I encourage us as scholars to expand our focus to the new and ever-increasing representations of queer representation in RTV.

The foundation of this project is to make sense of how queer identities are seen as authentic in RTV. This project builds on foundational scholarship about authenticity in RTV which suggests that authentic RTV participants present a consistent self that appears as though it is unaware of the role of surveillance of RTV (Andrejevic, 2004; Dubrofsky, 2007; Dubrofsky, 2011a; Dubrofsky & Ryalls, 2014)). I extend this work by suggesting that queer identities, such as drag queens, that do not always present a consistent sense of self are still seen as authentic in RTV. The queer authenticity I theorize here suggests that authenticity is not affixed to a consistent representation of the body. Queer authenticity is present on RTV when participants are seen as a consistent self across the different presentations of the physical self, in the case of *UKVTW* this is while in and out of drag on the series. In chapter one, I argue the winner of *UKVTW*, Blu Hydrangea, is presented as authentic because she is presented as maintaining a consistent sense of self while participating in the challenges, sharing stories of self-transformation, and representing her country.

As I noted in chapter one, the queer authenticity I describe here is only one of many possible queer authenticities in popular media. Turning back to Butler's (1993) writings on queer where she suggests that queer should always be challenging itself by responding to the current popular and political discourse, I imagine queer authenticity will continue to change and evolve. Looking towards the younger generation of participants on *Drag Race* is one way queer authenticity may change as a new generation of drag performers are represented on the series. Gen Z, those born between 1997 and 2012, claim to be the "queerest generation ever" (Lang, 2021) and the increasingly regressive legislation targeting queer identities continues to permeate political discourse, I imagine queer authenticity will continue to evolve and change. In recent seasons across *Drag Race* the conversation of age and experience have arose as Gen Z queens

gain their fame from performing on social media sites as opposed to older queens who began performing in gay night clubs and at Pride parades. As queer is always responding to the present moment, I imagine there will be new ways of making sense of how younger generations of queer identities present authenticity.

The second part of this project brings attention to the racial and national dynamics informing how authenticity is presented on *UKVTW*. I argue *UKVTW* represents a postracial imaginary by suggesting racism is not a current issue and instead the series focuses on the nationality of the queens as it frames itself as global. Building on strategic whiteness—how whiteness maintains its dominance by its mundane nature in the everyday (Nakayama & Krizek, 1995; Projansky & Ono, 1999)—I theorize "strategic westernness" to articulate how *UKVTW* centers western cultural references as the norm by "Othering" the only contestant from a non-Western country, Pangina Heals. However, strategic westernness is not distinct from strategic whiteness. Strategic westernness is a strategy of whiteness. *UKVTW*'s attention to nationality and its post-racial ethos, obfuscates race on the series. Strategic westernness provides a framework for how whiteness permeates media texts that represent post-racial imaginaries through drawing attention to how Western cultural norms maintain their dominance. *Drag Race*'s global expansion and *UKVTW* featuring an international cast of queens makes it an interesting case study to theorize strategic westernness.

*Drag Race* is continuing to expand internationally and is producing new series seeking to represent "global drag." In November 2022 the first season of *Canada's Drag Race: Canada vs The World* premiered on the Canadian cable network Crave and was distributed internationally on WOW Presents Plus. The series is hosted by Canadian drag queen and season eleven *RPDR* alumni, Brooke Lynn Hytes who hosts the other seasons of *Canada's Drag Race*. This series

does not represent any of the *Drag Race* franchises in non-Western countries, however the series featured a very racially diverse cast featuring six queens of color and three white queens, one who is the only cisgender woman drag queen in the franchise. As of February 2023, an unnamed "Global All Stars" version of the series featuring an international cast of queens is beginning production, as well as the second season of *UKVTW*. This project is the first within the burgeoning subfield of queer surveillance studies to use a popular media text as a site of analysis. As Dyer (1997) tells us, "how anything is represented is the means by which we think and feel about the thing" (p. xiii). Popular media texts are sites of analysis that queer surveillance studies in popular discourse. This project studies *UKVTW*, a RTV series, as a media text that represents a culture of surveillance which can offer insight into how queer identities are seen as authentic in surveillance settings.

### REFERENCES

- Ahmed, S. (2006). Orientations: Toward a Queer Phenomenology. *GLQ : A Journal of Lesbian*& *Gay Studies*, 12(4), 543-574, <u>https://doi.org/10.1215/10642684-2006-002</u>.
- Alahmed, A.M. (2020). Internalized Orientalism: Toward a Postcolonial Media Theory and De-Westernizing Communication Research from the Global South. *Communication Theory*, 30, 407-428, doi:10.1093/ct/qtz037.

Andrejevic, M. (2004). Reality TV: The Work of Being Watched. Rowman and Littlefield.

- Andrews, H. (2020). Drag Celebrity Impersonation as Queer Caricature in *The Snatch Game*. *Celebrity Studies*, 11(4), 417-430.
- Baez, J.M. (2018). In Search of Belonging: Latinas, Media, and Citizenship. University of Illinois Press.
- Banet-Weiser, S. (2012). *Authentic*<sup>™</sup>: *The Politics of Ambivalence in a Brand Culture*. New York University Press.
- Beauchamp, T. (2019). Going Stealth: Transgender Politics and the U.S. Surveillance Practices. Duke University Press.
- Berry, K. (2014). Introduction: Queering Family, Home, Love, Loss/Relational Troubling. *Cultural Studies*  $\leftarrow \rightarrow$  *Critical Methodologies*, 14(2), 91-94.

Biressi, A. & Nunn, H. (2005). Reality TV: Realism and Revelation. Wallflower Press.

Brahmacharimayum, S. & King, B. (2022). The Shumang Lila Performers of Manipur and the Pursuit of the Perfect. In N. Brennan & D. Gudelunas (Eds.) *Drag in the Global Digital*  *Public Sphere: Queer Visibility, Online Discourse, and Political Change* (pp. 222-236). Routledge.

- Brennan, N. (2017). Contradictions Between the Subversive and the Mainstream: Drag Cultures and RuPaul's Drag Race. In N. Brennan & D. Gudelunas (Eds.) RuPaul's Drag Race and the Shifting Visibility of Drag Culture (pp. 29-60). Palgrave MacMillan.
- Brennan, N. (2022). Post-Drag Race, Post-Trans, Post-Pandemic Contestants. In N. Brennan &
  D. Gudelunas (Eds.) *Drag in the Global Digital Public Sphere: Queer Visibility, Online Discourse, and Political Change* (pp. 17-35). Routledge.
- Brennan, N. & Gudelunas, D. (Eds.). (2017). RuPaul's Drag Race and the Shifting Visibility of Drag Culture. Palgrave MacMillan
- Brennan, N. & Gudeulunas, D. (Eds.). (2022a). Drag in the Global Digital Public Sphere: Queer Visibility, Online Discourse, and Political Change. Routledge.
- Brennan, N. & Gudelunas, D. (2022b). Post-RuPaul's Drag Race. In N. Brennan & D.
  Gudelunas (Eds.) Drag in the Global Digital Public Sphere: Queer Visibility, Online Discourse, and Political Change (pp. 3-13). Routledge.
- Browne, S. (2015). Dark Matters: On the Surveillance of Blackness. Duke University Press.
- Butler, J. (1990). Gender Trouble: Feminism and the Subversion of Identity. Routledge.
- Butler, J. (1993). Critically Queer. *GLQ: A Journal of Lesbian and Gay Studies*, 1, 17-32, https://doi-org.eu1.proxy.openathens.net/10.1215/10642684-1-1-17.
- Collie, H. & Commane, G. (2020). "Assume the Position: Two Queens Stand Before Me": RuPaul as Ultimate Queen. *Celebrity Studies*, 11(4), 402-416.
- Collins, C.G. (2017). Drag Race to the Bottom?: Updated Notes on the Aesthetic and Political Economy of *RuPaul's Drag Race*. *Transgender Studies Quarterly*, 4(1), 128-134.

Cramer, L.M. (2016). The Whitening of Grey's Anatomy. *Communication Studies*, 67(4), 474-487, doi:10.1080/10510974.2016.1205640.

Cramer, L.M. (2020). Whiteness and the Postracial Imaginary in Disney's Zootopia. Howard Journal of Communications, 31(3), 264-281,

https://doi.org/10.1080/10646175.2019.1666070.

- Cranmer, G.A. & Harris, T.M. (2015). "White-side, Strong-side": A Critical Examination of Race and Leadership in *Remember the Titans. Howard Journal of Communications*, 26(2), 153-171, doi:10.1080/10646175.2014.985807.
- Daggett, C. (2017). "If You Can't Love Yourself, How in the Hell You Gonna Love Somebody Else?" Drag TV and Self-Love Discourse. In N. Brennan & D. Gudelunas (Eds.)
  RuPaul's Drag Race and the Shifting Visibility of Drag Culture (pp. 271-285). Palgrave MacMillan.
- Dubrofsky, R.E. (2007). Therapeutics of the Self: Surveillance in the Service of the Therapeutic. *Television & New Media*, 8(4), 263-284. https://doi.org/10.1177/1527476407307578.
- Dubrofsky, R.E. (2009). Fallen Women in Reality TV. *Feminist Media Studies*, 9(3), 353-368. https://doi.org/10.1080/14680770903068324.
- Dubrofsky, R.E. (2011a). *The Surveillance of Women on Reality TV: Watching The Bachelor and The Bachelorette*. Lexington Books.

Dubrofsky, R.E. (2011b). Surveillance on Reality Television and Facebook: From Authenticity to Flowing Data. *Communication Theory*, 21, 111-129, doi:10.1111/j.1468-2885.2011.01378.x.

- Dubrofsky, R.E. (2018). Monstrous Authenticity: Trump's Whiteness. In D.D. McIntosh, D.G.
  Moon, & T.K. Nakayama (Eds.) *Interrogating the Communicative Power of Whiteness* (pp. 155-175). Routledge.
- Dubrofsky, R.E. (2022). Authenticating Whiteness: Karens, Selfies, and Pop Stars. University Press of Mississippi.
- Dubrofsky, R.E. & Magnet, S.A. (Eds.) (2015). *Feminist Surveillance Studies*. Duke University Press.
- Dubrofsky, R.E. & Ryalls, E. (2014). *The Hunger Games*: Performing Not-Performing to Authenticate Femininity and Whiteness. *Critical Studies in Media Communication*, 31(5), 395-409. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15295036.2013.874038</u>.
- Dyer, R. (1988). White. Screen, 29, 44-65.
- Dyer, R. (1997). White. Routledge.

Enli, G. (2015). Mediated Authenticity: How the Media Constructs Reality. Peter Lang.

- Feldman, Z. & Hakim, J. (2020). From *Paris is Burning* to #dragrace: Social Media and the Celebrification of Drag Culture. *Celebrity Studies*, 11(4), 386-401.
- Ferreday, D. (2020). "No one is trash, no one is garbage, no one is cancelled": The Cultural Politics of Trauma, Recovery, and Rage in *RuPaul's Drag Race. Celebrity Studies*, 11(4), 464-478.
- Fischer, M. (2019). Terrorizing Gender: Transgender Visibility and the Surveillance Practices of the US Security State. University of Nebraska Press.

Fojas, C. (2021). Border Optics: Surveillance Cultures of the US-Mexico Frontier. NYU Press.
Foucault, M. (1990). The History of Sexuality: An Introduction, Volume 1. Vintage Books.
Foucault, M. (1995). Discipline & Punish. Vintage Books.

- Furumizo, E. (2005). East Meets West and West Meets East: A Comparison of Occidentalism and Orientalism. *Review of Communication*, 5(2-3), 128-136, https://doi.org/10.1080/15358590500296997.
- GLAAD Media Institute. (2006). *Where We Are On TV: 2005-2006 Season*. https://www.glaad.org/publications/tvreport05.

GLAAD Media Institute. (2022). Where We Are On TV: 2021-2022 Season.

https://www.glaad.org/sites/default/files/GLAAD%20202122%20WWATV.pdf.

- Goldmark, M. (2015). National Drag: The Language of Inclusion in *RuPaul's Drag Race. GLQ: A Journal of Lesbian & Gay Studies*, 21(4), 501-520.
- Griffin, R.A. (2015). Problematic Representations of Strategic Whiteness and "Post-Racial"
   Pedagogy: A Critical Intercultural Reading of *The Help. Journal of International and Intercultural Communication*, 8(2), 147-166.

https://doi.org/10.1080/17513057.2015.1025330.

- Grindstaff, L. (2002). *The Money Shot: Trash, Class, and the Making of TV Talk Shows*. University of Chicago Press.
- Grobe, C. (2017). *The Art of Confession: The Performance of Self form Robert Lowell to Reality TV*. New York University Press.

Gudelunas, D. (2017). Digital Extensions, Experiential Extensions and Hair Extensions: *RuPaul's Drag Race* and the New Media Environment. In N. Brennan & D. Gudelunas
(Eds.) *RuPaul's Drag Race and the Shifting Visibility of Drag Culture* (pp. 231-243).
Palgrave MacMillan.

Gudelunas, D. (2022). Giving Face (Shields): The Recirculation and Rearticulation of *Drag Race* in a Global Pandemic. In N. Brennan & D. Gudelunas (Eds.) *Drag in the Global Digital*  *Public Sphere: Queer Visibility, Online Discourse, and Political Change* (pp. 143-151). Routledge.

Hall, R. (2015). *The Transparent Traveler: The Performance and Culture of Airport Security*.Duke University Press.

Halperin, D. (1997). Saint Foucault: Towards a Gay Hagiography. Oxford University Press.

- Helmore, E. (2023, January 21). Republican legislators introduce new laws to crack down on drag shows. *The Guardian*. https://www.theguardian.com/world/2023/jan/21/anti-dragshow-laws-bans-republican-states.
- Heynen, R. & van der Meulen, E. (Eds.). (2019). Making Surveillance States: Transnational Histories. University of Toronto Press.
- Johnson, E.P. (2003). *Appropriating Blackness: Performance and the Politics of Authenticity*. Duke University Press.

Johnson, P.E. (2017). Walter White(ness) Lashes Out: *Breaking Bad* and Male Victimage. *Critical Studies in Media Communication*, 34(1), 14-28, doi:10.1080/15295036.2016.1238101.

- Joseph, R.L. (2009). "Tyra Banks Is Fat": Reading (Post-)Racism and (Post-)Feminism in the New Millennium. Critical Studies in Media Communication, 26(3), 237-254, https://doi.org/10.1080/15295030903015096.
- Jung, E.A. (2016, March). RuPaul on How Straight People Steal From Gay Culture and Why Educating the Youth Is a Waste of Time. *Vulture*.

https://www.vulture.com/2016/03/rupaul-drag-race-interview.html.

Kafer, G. & Grinberg, D. (2019). Editorial: Queer Surveillance. Surveillance & Society, 17(5), 592-601, <u>https://ojs.library.queensu.ca/index.php/surveillance-and-society/index</u>.

- Kohlsdorf, K. (2014). Policing the Proper Queer Subject: RuPaul's Drag Race in the Neoliberal "Post" Moment. In J. Daems (Ed.) *The Makeup of RuPaul's Drag Race: Essays on the Queen of Reality Shows* (pp. 74-94). McFarland & Company.
- Lang, N. (2021, February 24). Gen Z is the Queerest Generation Ever, According to New Survey. *them*. https://www.them.us/story/gen-z-millennials-queerest-generation-galluppoll.
- Lavietes, M. (2022, December 1). Colorado shooting prompts top drag queens to tour with armed guards and metal detectors. *NBC News*. <u>https://www.nbcnews.com/nbc-out/out-news/colorado-shooting-prompts-top-drag-queens-tour-armed-guards-metal-dete-rcna59478</u>.
- LeMaster, B. (2015). Discontents of Being and Becoming Fabulous on RuPaul's Drag U: Queer Criticism in Neoliberal Times. *Women's Studies in Communication*, 38(2), 167-186.
- LeMaster, L. & Tristano, M. (2021). Performing (Asian American trans) femme on RuPaul's Drag Race: Dis/Orienting Racialized Gender, or, Performing Trans Femme of Color, Regardless. *Journal of International and Intercultural Communication*,

https://doi.org/10.1080/17513057.2021.1955143.

- Leon-Boys, D. (2023). Elena, Princesa of the Periphery: Disney's Flexible Latina Girl. Rutgers University Press.
- Livingston, J. (Director). (1990). Paris Is Burning. Off White Productions.
- Lovelock, M. (2019). *Reality TV and Queer Identities: Sexuality, Authenticity, Celebrity*. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Lyon, D. (2018). The Culture of Surveillance: Watching as a Way of Life. Polity Press.

- Lyvie, K. & Robinson, D. (2022). Reading is Fundamental: Ru-Capturing Narrative and *Drag Race* Herstory Through Remixed Episodes, Fan Dialogue, and Hypercamp Culture. In N.
  Brennan & D. Gudelunas (Eds.) *Drag in the Global Digital Public Sphere: Queer Visibility, Online Discourse, and Political Change* (pp. 152-167). Routledge.
- Matthews, T.R. (2022). Mr. Gay Namibia. In N. Brennan & D. Gudelunas (Eds.) Drag in the Global Digital Public Sphere: Queer Visibility, Online Discourse, and Political Change (pp. 206-221). Routledge.
- McClintock, A. (1993). Gonad the Barbarian and the Venus Flytrap: Portraying the Female and Male Orgasm. In L. Segal & M. McIntosh (Eds) Sex Exposed: Sexuality and the Pornography Debate (pp. 111-131). Rutgers University Press.
- Mehran, M. (2022). It is a Drag: The Televisiual Exploitation of Labor in *RuPaul's Drag Race*.
  In N. Brennan & D. Gudelunas (Eds.) *Drag in the Global Digital Public Sphere: Queer Visibility, Online Discourse, and Political Change* (pp. 113-125). Routledge.
- Mercer, J. & Sarson, C. (2020). Fifteen seconds of Fame: *RuPaul's Drag Race*, Camp, and "Memeability". *Celebrity Studies*, 11(4), 464-478.
- Middlemost, R. (2019). "Serving Activist Realness" The New Drag Superstars and Activism Under Trump. In M.U. D'Silva & A. Atay (Eds.) *Intercultural communication, Identity, and Social Movements in the Digital Age* (pp. 48-65). Routledge.
- Middlemost, R. (2020). Rewriting "Herstory": Sasha Velour's Drag as Art and Activism. *Celebrity Studies*, 11(4), 431-466.
- Monahan, T. (2022). *Crisis Visions: Race and the Cultural Production of Surveillance*. Duke University Press.

- Moore, K. (2022). *Legal Spectatorship: Slavery and the Visual Culture of Domestic Violence*. Duke University Press.
- Munoz, J.E. (1997). The white to be angry. *Social Text*, 52/53(3-4), 80-103, https://doi.org/10.2307/466735.
- Munoz, J.E. (1999). *Disidentifications: Queers of Color and the Performance of Politics*. University of Minnesota Press.
- Nakayama, T.K. & Krizek, R.L. (1995). Whiteness: A Strategic Rhetoric. *Quarterly Journal of Speech*, 81, 291-309. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00335639509384117</u>.
- Newton, E. (1972). *Mother Camp: Female Impersonators in America*. University of Chicago Press.
- O'Connell, R. (2020). "Labouring in the Image": Celebrity, Femininity, and the Fully Commodified Self in the Drag of Willam Belli. *Celebrity Studies*, 11(4), 447-463.
- Ogles, J. (2018, January 30). 42 LGBT People Who Made Reality TV History. *Advocate*. <u>https://www.advocate.com/television/2018/1/30/42-lgbt-people-who-made-reality-tv-history</u>.
- Oh, D.C. (2020). "Opting out of that": White Feminism's Policing and Disavowal of Anti-Racist Critique in *The Unbreakable Kimmy Schmidt*. Critical Studies in Media Communication, 37(1), 58-70, https://doi.org/10.1080/15295036.2019.1690666.
- Ono, K.A. (2010). Postracism: A theory of the "Post"- as political strategy. *Journal of Communication Inquiry*, 34, 227-233, doi:10.1177/0196859910371375.
- Ono, K.A. (2013). Mad Men's Postracial Figuration of a Racial Past. In L. M. E. Goodlad, L. Kaganovsky, & R. A. Rushing (Eds.), 'Mad Men', Mad World: Sex Politics, Style, and the 1960s (pp. 300-319). Duke University Press.

- Ouellette, L. & Hay, J. (2008). *Better Living through Reality TV: Television and Post-Welfare Citizenship*. Blackwell.
- Parameswaran, R. (2004). Global Queens, National Celebrities: Tales of Feminine Triumph in Post-Liberalization India. *Critical Studies in Media Communication*, 21(4), 346-370.
- Pepe, P.P. (2022). Pabllo Vittar, the New Drag Sensation and Embodiment of Resistance in Digital Media Space. In N. Brennan & D. Gudelunas (Eds.) *Drag in the Global Digital Public Sphere: Queer Visibility, Online Discourse, and Political Change* (pp. 51-62). Routledge.
- Projansky, S. & Ono, K.A. (1999). Strategic Whiteness as Cinematic Racial Politics. In T.K. Nakayama & J.N. Martin (Eds.) *Whiteness: The Communication of Social Identity* (pp. 149-174). Sage.
- Rossing, J.P. (2012). Deconstructing Postracialism: Humor as a Critical, Cultural Project. *Journal of Communication Inquiry*, 36(1), 44-61, doi:10.1177/0196859911430753.
- Sarfati, J. & dos Santos, I. (2022). Do You Speak Drag? An Analysis of RuPaul's Drag Race
  Jargon Translated and Subtitled by Brazilian Fans. In N. Brennan & D. Gudelunas (Eds.)
  Drag in the Global Digital Public Sphere: Queer Visibility, Online Discourse, and
  Political Change (pp. 168-185). Routledge.

Turner, G. (2012) What's Become of Cultural Studies? Sage.

- Upadhyay, N. (2019). "Can you get more American than Native American?": Drag and Settler Colonialism in *RuPaul's Drag Race. Cultural Studies*, 33(3), 480-501.
- Valdivia, A.N. (2020). The Gender of Latinidad: Uses an Abuses of Hybridity. Wiley Blackwell.
- Vesey, A. (2017). "A Way to Sell Your Records": Pop Stardom and the Politics of Drag Professionalization on *RuPaul's Drag Race. Television & New Media*, 18(7), 589-604.

- VICE. (2018). 'Never Say Sorry for Who You Are': Talking Pride and Performance With Pangina Heals. *VICE*. <u>https://www.vice.com/en/article/gywm47/never-say-sorry-for-who-you-are-talking-pride-and-performance-with-pangina-heals</u>.
- Visage, M. (Producer). 2022. *RuPaul's Drag Race: UK vs the World* [Television series]. United Kingdom: World of Wonder.
- Ward, J. (2020). Serving "Reality" Television "Realness": Reading *RuPaul's Drag Race* and its Construction of Reality. *Comparative American Studies*, 17(1), 23-40.
- Williams, L. (1993). Pornographies on/scene: or diff'rent strokes for diff'rent folks. In L. Segal & M. McIntosh (Eds) *Sex Exposed: Sexuality and the Pornography Debate* (pp. 233-265). Rutgers University Press.